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YAMAHA CORPORATION

Flash Report

Consolidated Basis
Results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008
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YAMAHA CORPORATION
(URL htip:/fwww.global. yamaha.com/it/report/)

Code number: 7951

Address of headquarters: 10-1, Nakazawa-cho, Naka-ku, Hamamatsu, Shizuoka 430-8650, Japan
Representative director: Mitsuru Umemura, President and Representative Director

For further information, please contact: Fumio Umeda, General Manage{. Accounting and Finance Division %/ S

Company name:

Telephone: +81-53-460-2141

Scheduled date of Ordinary General ’
Sharcholders’ Meeting: June 25, 2008

Scheduled date to submit Securities Report: June 26, 2008 J/,d

Scheduled date to begin dividend payments: June 26, 2008 ~ J -

Stock listing: Tokyo Stock Exchange (First Section)

The accounting methods used in this report are not consistent with U.8. standard accounting methods.

1. Results for FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007-March 31, 2008)

Figures of iess than ¥1 million have been omitted.

(1) Consolidated Operating Results

Net sales | Operating income Recurring profit Net income
¥ change % change % change % change
Milligns of from Millicns of from Millions of frem Millions of from
yen the previous yen the previous yen the previous yen b the previous
fiscal year fiscal year fiscal year fiscal year
FY2008.3 ;
¥54 4 3% ¥32,34 18 6% ¥32,584 .6 ¥39,558 a0
(Ended March 31, 2008) 875 ©.3% 32,845 . (3.6)% %
FY2007.3 ¥550,361 10% ¥27,685 14.7% ¥42,626 209 % ¥27,866 0.9)%
(Ended Masch 3¢, 2007) ' . ' ’ i ’ S5y

. Net income per share . Ratio of recurring profit | Ratio of operating income
Net income per share after full dilution Return on equity 10 total assels to net sales
Yen Yen % " e
FY2008.3 ¥19176 ¥ — 11.5% 5.9% 6.0%
{Ended March 31, 2008) : R e o
FYZ007.3 ¥135.19 V13501 8.4% 1.9% 5.0%
{Ended March 31, 2007)

(For reference) Equity in earnings of non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates:
FY20083 ¥ 145 million
FY2007.3 ¥17,764 million

(2) Consolidated Financial Data

(As of March 31, 2007}

Total assets Net assets Shareholders’ equity ratio Net assets per share
Millicns of yen Millions of yen % Yen
FY2008.3 ¥540,347 ¥343,028 61.9% ¥1,646.44
(As of March 31, 2008)
FY2007.3 ¥559,03 1 ¥351,398 62.0% ¥1,68091

Note: Sharcholders’ equity ratio = (Net assets-Minority interests)/Total assets

(For reference) Shareholders” equity:
FY2008.3 ¥339,644 millicn
FY2007.3 ¥346,467 millicn




(3) Consolidated Cash Flows

Cash flows from Cash flows from Cash flows from Cash and cash equivalents
operating activities investing activities financing activities at end of period
Millicns of yen Millions of yen Millians of yen Millions of yen
FY2008.3 ¥17,225 ¥ 41,999 ¥(19314) ¥103,371
(Ended March 31, 2008)
FY2007.3 .
¢ ¥36.732 ¥(22,427 ¥ (8,245 ¥ 45926
(Ended March 31, 2007) ( ) (8.246)
2. Dividends
Dividends per share Dividend ) _Ralio of
Total dividends . dividends 10 net
. i (annual} propensity assels
Base date Interim period-end Second half Full fiscal year (comsolidated) (consolidated)
Yen Yen Yen Millions of yen % %
FY2007.3 ¥10.00 V12,50 ¥22,50 ¥ 4,641 16.6% 1.4%
FY2008.3 ¥25.00 12500 ¥50.00 ¥10314 26.1% 1.0%
FY2009 3 (Forecast) ¥27.50 ¥27.50 ¥55.00 — 55.3% -_—

Note: Breakdown of dividends for FY2008.3 and farecast for FY2009.3:
FY2008.3 interim period: Regular dividend of ¥15.00, special dividend of ¥10.00
FY2008.3 second half: Regular dividend of ¥'15.00, special dividend of ¥10.00
Forecast for FY2009.3 interim period: Regular dividend of ¥17.50 special dividend of ¥10.00
Forecast for FY2009.3 second half: Regular dividend of ¥17.50, special dividend of ¥10.00

3. Consolidated Financial Forecasts for FY2009.3 (April 1, 2008-March 31, 2009)

{Percentage figures for full fiscal years are changes from the previous fiscal year, and those for the first half are changes from the previous same period.)

Net sales Operating income Recurring profit Net income Net it;::::e per
Millions of yen % M llions of ven % Millions of yen % Millions of yen % Yen
FY¥2009.3 First Half ¥260,300 (7.3% ¥19.400 8.9% ¥13300 (15.3)% ¥12,000 (61.0% ¥58.07
FY2009.3 ¥540,000 (1.6)% ¥35.000 66% ¥32,000 (1.8)% ¥20,500 (48 2)% ¥®.37

4. Others

(1) Changes in the state of material subsidiaries during the period {Changes regarding specific companies accompanying changes
in the scope of conselidation); No

(2) Changes in principles, procedures, methods of presentation, etc., related to the consolidated financial statements {Changes in
material items that form the basis for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements)
(a) Changes related to revisions in accounting principles: Yes
{b) Changes other than those in (a) above: No
Note: For further details, please refer to the item “Changes in Accounting Methods™ on page 20 in the section “(5)
Basic Items for the Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, b} Method of Depreciation, 1. Tangible
Fixed Assets.”

(3) Number of shares issued (common shares)
(a) Number of shares at the end of the pzriod (including treasury stock}

FY2008.3 206,524,626 shares FY2007.3 206,524,626 shares
(b) Number of treasury stock
FY2008.3 234,581 shares FY2007.3 406,347 shares

Note: For an explanation of the number of shares used for computing net income per share {consolidated), please refer
to “Per Share Information™ on page 37.



Additional Information: Nen-Consolidated Results

1. Non-consolidated results for FY2008.3 (April t, 2007 —March 31, 2008)
(1) Non-consolidated operating results

(% changes are increases/decreascs fiom the previcus period)

Net sales Operating income Recurring profit Net income
Millions of yen “ Milliony of yen % Millions of yen Yo Millions of yea %
FY2003.3 % Y 9.7% 62,024 448.4%
(Ended March 31, 2008) ¥315,645 {2.3)% ¥12,344 (1.7)% ¥17.941 (9.1% ¥62, (s
FY2007.3 Y E 9 4249 Y11,310 10.4%
(Ended March 31, 2007) ¥323,043 0.6% ¥12,558 573 % ¥19.860 24% 1,3

Netincome per share

Net income per share
after full difusion

Yen Yen
FYZ2008.3 —
(Ended March 31, 2008) ¥300.66
FY2007.3 _
(Ended March 31, 2007) ¥ 5482
(2) Non-consolidated financial data
‘Total assets Net assels Sharcholders’ equity ratio Net assets per share
Mitltons of yen Miltions of yen % Yen
Fy20083 ¥407,739 ¥277,894 68.2% ¥1,047.11
(As of March 31, 2003)
FY2007.3 )
(As of March 31, 2007) ¥30%,002 ¥187,266 60.6% ¥ 907.73
(For reference) Shareholders” equity:  FY2008.3  ¥277.894 million FY2007.3 ¥187,266 million

* Explanation of the appropriate use of performance forecasts and other related items

Forecasts of consolidated performance shown on page 2 were prepared based on information available at the time of the
forecast. Actual consolidated performance may differ from forecasts owing to a wide range of facters. For further information,

please refer 10 page 6,




1. Management Performance

(1) Analysis of Management Performance

1. Review of the Fiscal Year (FY2008.3)
In the Japanese economy, moderate recovery continued, sustained by an increase in private capital investment accompanying
strong corporate profitability and other factors, [n the second half of the fiscal year, uncertainty increased as a result of increases
in the price of crude oil and other raw materials, the appreciation of the yen, and other factors. Overseas, the U.S. economy
showed increasing signs of a slowdown, but trends in the economies of Europe remained firm, while the economices of Asia
outside Japan, including China, expanded.

Amid these conditions, the Yamaha Group actively addressed the following issues to steadily implement its growth strategy under
its medium-term business plan “YGP2010 (Yamaha Growth Plan 2010): FY2008.3 through FYZ2010.3.”

In “The Sound Company” business domain (comprising the musical instruments, audio, music entertainment, AV/IT, and
semiconductor businesses), to attain further growth, Yamaha worked, first, to create new technologies and develop as well as
promote the sales of new high-value-added producis through thoroughgoing marketing activities. In parallel with these activities,
Yamaha strengthened and expanded its production plants in Indonesia and China while also implementing measures to bolster its
sales network in emerging markets. The latter activities included the establishment of subsidiaries in Russia and India. In addition,
to strengthen ils presence in the global, premium-quality pianc market, Yamaha acquired Austrian piano manufacturer
Busendorfer. In the professional audio equipment business, Yamaha expanded its product lineup and strengthened its sales
capabilitics and promoted the expansion of its business domain through operating alliances and M&A. Moreover, to increase its
presence in music entertainment business, Yamaha established Yamaha Music Entertainment Holdings, Inc., and took measures to
realign and consolidate its activities in the music entertainment field.

To further enhance Group profitability as the base for growth, Yamaha is implementing manufacturing reforms, including the
consolidation of jts piano manufacturing bases and moving shead with improvements in supply chain management (SCM)
systems and business processes,

In the “Diversification” business domain (comprising lifestyle-related products, recreation, and the others businesses), Yamaha is
endeavoring to strengthen its product lines and enhance services, while improving the efficiency of operations.

To increase the comprehensive strength of the Yamaha Group, Yamaha examined and assessed the effectiveness of internal
controls throughout the Group, stepping up compliance education and training, and taking active initiatives to address
environmenial issues.

Regarding sales, despite the positive impact of the: decline in the value of the yen and strong results in the musical instruments
and others business, sales declined about ¥15.0 billion as a result of the transfer of certain businesses, and, as a consequence, net
sales declined 0.3% year on year, to ¥548.8 hillion. Of this total, sales in Japan showed a drop of 5.0%, 1o ¥276.6 billion, but
overseas sales rose 5.0%, to ¥272.1 billion.

Profitwise, as a result of the decline in the value of the yen and expansion in the musical instruments and others businesses,
operating income rose 18.6%, to ¥32.8 billion. Recurring profit, however, declined 23.6%, to ¥32.6 billion, owing to the
exclusion of Yamaha Motor Co., Ltd. from the scope of consolidation under equity method following the sale of a portion of
Yamaha's cquity holdings in that company, which resulted in a decline in equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and
affiliates. Net income, on the other hand, rose 42.0%, to ¥39.6 billion, as the Company posted an extraordinary gain on the sale of
Yamaha Motor shares.

Results of operations by business segment were as follows:

Musical Instruments

Sales of pianos were strong in Europe, China, and other parts of Asia, resulting in overall growth in sales of this segment, Sales
of electronic musical instruments increased owing to gains in sales of digital pianos in overseas markets, and sales of professional
audio equipment rose, principally in overseas mearkets. Moreover, the performance of wind instruments as well as string and
percussion instruments was generally smooth. In addition, sales of music schools remained firm, but because of the shrinkage of
the polyphonic ringtone market, sales from the content distribution business declined.

As a result of these various developments, sales of the musical instrument business rose 4.3%, to ¥340.0 billion, and operating
income expanded 26.7%, to ¥27.9 billion.

AVAT Products

In the audio business, sales of front surround speeker producis expanded, but, as a result of more-intense competition in the AV
receiver field, overall segment sales were level with the previous f{iscal year. Sales of online karaoke equipment declined from the
prior year.

As a consequence, sales of the AV/IT products segment slipped 2.8%, to ¥70.8 billion, and operating income declined 14.0%, to
¥1.8 billion.




Electronic Equipment and Metal Products

In the electronic equipment business, sales of digital amplifier LS] expanded, but demand for L.81 sound chips for mobile phones
declined, leading to an overall decline in sales of the electronic equipment business. In the metal products business, Yamaha sold
90% of the shares it held in subsidiary Yamaha Metanix Corporation, a company ¢ngaged in the electronic metals business, 10
Dowa Metaltech Co., Ltd,, on November 30, 2007. As a consequence, Yamaha Metanix was excluded from the scope of
consolidation beginning with the second half of the fiscal year under review, and sales of this electronic metal producis business
declined substantially.

As a result, sales of this business segment as a whole declined 17.9%, to ¥45.0 billion, and operating income fell 39.9%, to ¥1.9
billion.

Lifestyle-Related Products
In the system kitchen area, sales, mainly of the moderately priced “Berry” series, were robust, but sales of system bathrooms
decreased.

As a consequence, sales were down 2.3%, to ¥45.5 billion, and operating income declined 48.8%, to ¥0.6 billion.

Recreation

A marked decline in sales was reported in the recreation business segment owing to the sale of four of the Company’s recreation
facilities (Kiroro, Toba Hotel International, Nemunosato, and Haimurubushi). The operaling assets and 100% of the shares of the
respective management companies of these compiinies were sold to Mitsui Fudosan Resort Co,, Ltd,, on Oclober 1, 2007, and
these companies were excluded from the scope of consolidation beginning with the second half of the fiscal year under review,
thus resulting in a marked decrease in sales from this source.

As a result, sales of the recreation business declined 36.2% overall, to ¥11.4 billion, and the operating loss amounted to ¥1.1
billion (compared with an operating loss of ¥L.5 billion for the previous fiscal year).

Others
In the golf products business, total sales expanded significantly, supported by growth in revenues from Japan and exports.

In the metatlic molds and components business, sales of magnesivm parts and plastic pants increased, and sales of automobile
interior wood components also rose.

As a consequence, sales of this segment rose 11.4%, 10 ¥36.0 billion, and operating income jumped 118.0%, to ¥1.7 billion.
Performance by geographic segment was as follows:

In Japan, sales declined 4.6%, to ¥293.4 billion, and operating income decreased 9.3%, to ¥14.6 billion. In North America, sales
were down 3.5%, to ¥89.8 billion, and operating income increased 38.3%, to ¥4.9 billion. In Europe, sales grew 7.2%, to ¥102.2

billion, and operating income expanded 32.0%, to ¥5.8 billion. In Asia, Oceania, and other areas, sales advanced 16.5%, to ¥63.4
billion, and operating income grew 55.9%, to ¥8.0 billion.




2. Forecast for FY2009.3
The forecast for FY2009.3 is as follows:

FY2009.3 will be the second year of the medium-term business plan “YGP2010 (Yamaha Growth Plan 2010).” Yamaha has
positioned this second year of YGP2010 as a tim: to show results of growth policies implemented thus far and strengthen its
business base.

In the musical instruments busingss, despite the impact of the sharp decline in the value of the U.S. dollar, the Yamaha Group will
move ahead with measures 10 realign its production bases and lower manufacturing costs, while also strengthening its sales
capabitities in growth markets, such as China, Russia, and elsewhere. As a result of these measures, combined with activitics to
expand sales of high-value-added products in Japan and overseas, Yamaha anticipates expansion in both sales and operating
income.

In the AV/IT business, despite the strengthening of the AV receiver lineup, expanded sales of front sound speakers, and other
favorable factors, the Group is forecasting that sales and operating income will show declines because of the effects of the sharp
decline in the value of the U.S. dollar and more-intznse competition.

In the electronic equipment and metal products business, owing to the transfer of the electronic metal products business, the name
of this segment will be changed 10 the electronic devices segment from FY2009.3. Please note that, as a result of the sale of the
clectronic metal products business, sales and operating income for the former electronic equipment and metal products segment
are forecast to decling, but sales and operating income of the electronic devices business (formerly the electronic equipment
business) are forecast to increase,

In the lifestyle-refated products business, the Graup is looking for an increase in sales and operating income as a result of
activities to improve and strengthen the product lineup, efforts to bolster sales capabilities, including the development of new
sales channels, and other initiatives.

In the others segment, mainly in metallic molds and components business, the Company is looking for an increase in operating
income as a result of activities to lower manufacturing costs,

Please note that following the transfer of the business of four of the Group's recreation facilities, the recreation business will be
included in the others segment beginning with FY22009.3.

As a consequence of the above projections, net sales in FY2009.3 are forecast to decline 1.6%, to ¥540.0 billion; operating
income is expected lo increase 6.6%, 10 ¥35.0 billion; recurring profit is forecast to decline 1.8%, to ¥32.0 billion; and operating
income is expected to show a decline of 48.2%, 10 ¥20.5 billion.



{2) Analysis of Financial Position

I, FY2008.3 Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents (hereinafier, cash) at the end of FY2008.3 showed a net increase of ¥57.5 billion over the prior fiscal
year-end (versus an increase of ¥10.5 billion in the previous fiscal year), and stood at ¥103.4 billion at the end of the period.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Income before income taxes and minority interests was ¥62.5 billion (compared with ¥33.1 billion for the previous fiscal year),
but this included ¥29.8 billion in gain on the sale of stocks of affiliates. As a result, net cash provided by operating activities
amounted to ¥37.2 billion (compared with net cash provided by operating activitics of ¥39.7 billion in the previous fiscal year).

Cash Flows from [nvesting Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities amountec to ¥42.0 billion (compared with net cash used in investing activities of ¥22.4
billion in the previous fiscal year). This net cash inflow from investing activities was due to proceeds from the sale of stocks of
affiliates as well as was partially offset by purchases of fixed assets.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to ¥19.3 billion (compared with net cash used in financing activities of ¥8.2
billion in the previous fiscal year). Financial cash outflows included the repayments of resort membership deposits and cash
dividends paid.

*Trends in Cash-Flow Indicators

FY10083 FY2007.3 FY2006.3 FY2005.3 FY2004.3
Shareholders” equity ratio 62.9% 62.0% 60.8% 54.4% 5L1%
Shareholders® equity ratio based on current market price 72.8% 97.0% 82.5% 63.1% 78.8%
Ratio of interest-bearing debt 1o cash flow 58.0% 65.7% 113.9% 121.1% 86.1%
Interest coverage ratio 34.5 times 40.9 times 23,5 times 38.7times  36.9 times

(Calculation Methods}
Sharehelders’ equity ratio (%) = tolal sharchelders’ equity + 1o:al assels
Shareholders' equity ratio based on current market price (%) = 1o al market value of common stock -+ total assets
Ratio of interest-bearing debt 1o cash flow (%) = intercst-bearing debt = net cash flows provided by operating activities
Interest coverage ratio (times) = net cash flows provided by opersting activities < interest payments
Notes: 1, All indicators are calculated based on consolidated financial figures.
2. Interest-bearing debt includes all balance.sheet debt for which interest payments are being made.
3. Figures for net cash flows provided by operating ectivities and interest payments are those fiom the cash flows from operating activities and interest paid
from consolidated staternenis of cash flows.

2. Forecast for FY200%9.3

Regarding the forecast for FY2009.3, cash flow from operations is expected to decline. Among the investment cash flows, the
Company is planning to make capital investments in excess of depreciation and amortization. The Company plans to make use of
cash flows from financing activities to conduct the buyback of its shares.

(3) Basic Policy for Allocation of Profit and Dividends for FY2008.3 and FY2009.3

The Company has adopted a basic policy for allocating profit that is linked to the level of consolidated net income in the medium
term and provides for increasing the ratio of consolidated net income to sharcholders’ equity by making additions to retained
earnings that arc appropriate for sirengthening the Company’s management position through investments in R&D, sales
capabilities, capital equipment and facilities, and other areas, while also placing more emphasis than in the past on providing a
return to sharcholders that reflects consolidated pe:formance. Specifically, the Company will endeavor to sustain stable dividends
and sets a goal of 40% for its consolidated dividend payout ratio.

Following this poticy, for FY2008.3, as part of it; decision to return a portion of the proceeds from the sale of its holdings of
Yamaha Motor shares, the Company is scheduled 1o pay a special dividend of ¥20 per share plus a regular dividend of ¥30 per
share for a total of ¥50 per share for the full fiscal year, (Inclusive of the special dividend, dividend payments of ¥25 per share
will be paid for the interim period and an identical amount for the second half of the fiscal year.}

Regarding dividends for FY2009.3, the Company is planning to increase its regular dividend of ¥30 per share to ¥35 per share
and pay a special dividend of ¥20 per share, for a lotal of ¥55 per share for the full fiscal year. {Inclusive of the special dividend,
dividend payments of ¥27.5 per share will be paid for the interim period and an identical amount for the second half of the fiscal
year.).

Please note that, as indicated in the section “Important Subsequent Events™ on page 37, the Company’s Board of Directors, at its
meeting on April 30, 2008, made decisions on matters related to the conduct of buyback of the Company’s shares.

Cautlonary Statc ment with Respect to Forward-Looking Statements
The forward-looking statements in this flash report contain inh:rent risks and uncertainties insofar as they are based on future projections and plans that may differ
materially from the actual results achieved.




(4) Types of Business Risk

Among the matters covered in this Flash Report, items that may have a material impact on the decisions of investors include
those lisied and described below. In addition, tnfo:mation related to future events as related in the text are based on judgmenis
made by the Yamaha Group at the end of the fiscal year under review.

Under its medium-term business plan, “YGP2010 (Yamaha Growth Plan 2010),” the Yamaha Group positions its business
activities in “The Sound Company™ business domain, which encompass “musical instruments, audio, music entertainment, AV/IT,
and semigonductors,” underpinned by the sound, music, and network technologies, as its engine for growth and will actively
invest management resources in this domain, However, in the event that sales and earnings do not increase as planned as a result
of the types of risk described below, such circumstances may have an adverse effect on the Group's financial performance and
financial position. In addition, the Group has defined a “Diversification™ business domain that encompasses its other business
activities and is working to build strong positions. in these activities and the respective industries, however, in a similar way,
failure to develop businesses according to plan cwing to business risks may negatively affect the Group's business and the
development of its business activities,

1. Economic Conditions

The Yamaha Group is developing its business activities plobally and therefore is subject to the influence of econemic conditions
in Japan and other countries. Recessions in world markets and accompanying declines in demand may have a negative cffect on
the Group's business results and the development ¢f its business activities.

2. Price Competition

The Yamaha Group confronts severe competition in each of its business segments. For example, in the musical instruments
segment, the Company is a comprehensive manufacturer of musical instruments and sells high-quality, high-performance
instruments covering a broad price spectrum. However, the Company confronts competitors in each musical instruments field and,
especially in recent years, competition in the lower price segments has become more intense.

Also, in AV/IT segment, as competitors and products manufactured in China gain a stronger presence in the market, depending on
reforms in logistics and distribution and wrends in new technology, this business may be exposed to further growing price
competition, which would have an impact on the Group’s current strong position in this arca.

3. Development of New Technologies

The Group will focus management resources on “The Sound Company™ business domain and will endeavor to create an
unassailably strong position as the world's leader in the comprehensive production of musical instruments, The Group has
developed the activities of its AV/IT segment, focusing mainly on hi-fi AV products, and the activities of its electronic devices
business, concentrating on LSI sound chips built 011 its core operations in the semiconductor business.

Differentiating the Group's technologies in the field of sound, music, and network is indispensable for the Group’s further
development and growth. If, in its technological development activities, the Group does not continue to forecast future market
needs correctly and meel these needs accurately, the value added of its products in the musical instruments segment will decline,
and it may have to deal with price competition. The Group will then face the added problem of being unable to slimulate new
demand for its products and may find it difficult to continue its AV/IT and electronic devices businesses.

4. Business Investment Risk

The Group makes investments in its businesses to promote their expansion, but, even if in making investment decisions the
Group understands investment return and risk qualitatively and quantitatively and makes careful, considered judgments, under
certain circumstances, the Group may be unable to recover a portion or the full amount of its investments or may decide (o
withdraw from the business. In such cases, there is a possibility that the value of assets invested in such businesses may have to
be written down.

S. Business Alliances

The Group forms alliances with other companies, makes investments in other companies, forms joint ventures, and conducts
other similar activities, and, in recent years, the partnerships with other companies has grown in importance. In some cases, the
anticipated beneficiat effects of such partnerships may not materinlize because of conflicts of interest with the partners, changes
in the business strategies of such partners, and for other reasons.

6. Reliance on Customers for Materials and Parts

The Group’s manufacturing and sale of its preducts—including semiconductors, such lifestyle-related products as system
kitchens, automobile interier wood components. and such materials and parts as magnesium parts—are dependent on the
performance of its customers for these materials. When the bonds of trust between such customers and Group companies are
impaired by delivering, quality, or other issues, this will have a negative impact on future orders. Moreover, there is also a
possibility that Group companies may be requested by customers to pay compensation in the event of quality problems or other
defects.

7. Expansion of Business Qperations into International Markets

The Yamaha Group has established manufacturing and marketing bases in various parts of the world and has developed its
operations globally. Of the Group's 87 consolidated subsidiaries, 48 are foreign corporations, and, of this total, 14 companies are
manufacturers located overseas, with principal manufacturing bases concentrated in China, Indonesia, and Malaysia and 49.6%
of the Group's net sales generated overseas.




As a result, the Group may face cenain risks, as listed below, arising from its operations in overseas markets. If such risks should
arise, such as the difficulties of having manufactu:ing facilities concentrated in certain regions, there is a possibility the Group
may not be able to continue to provide stable supplies of its products. Such risks include:

(a) Political and economic turmoil, terrorism, and war

(b} The introduction of disadvantagecus policies or impositions or changes in regulations

{c) Unexpected changes in laws and regulations

{d) Difficulty in recruiting personnel

{¢) Difficulty in procuring raw materials and paris as well as issues related 1o the level of technology

{f) Distribution problems due to harbor strikes, etc.

8. Increases in Raw Malerials Prices, Adequacy of Raw Material Supplies, and Rising Logistics Costs

The Group makes use of raw materials in manufacturing its products, including lumber, metals such as copper, and plastics for
parts. Increases in the prices of these materials will bring increases in manufacturing costs. In addition, in the case of certain
kinds of material, the Group obtains supplies from certain specified suppliers. Supply conditions for such materials may have an
impact on the Group’s manufacturing activities.

In addition, if, as a result of the increase in crude cil prices, logistics costs rise, this may be the cause of increases in the ratios of
manufacturing costs and cost of sales to net sales.

9. Effects of Trend toward Declining Birthrate

In the Group's core business of musical instrumerits, the Group is continuing to develop its music school and English-language
school businesses, which are primarily attended by children, and one of the channels for sales of musical instruments is through
schools. If the ongoing trends, especially in Japan, toward declining birthrate having fewer children continue, these trend may
lead to a decline in sales of musical instruments an1 related sales.

10, Recruitment and Training of Personnel
The average age of the Company’s workforce is rzlatively high, with a significant number of workers in the upper age brackets
and a great number of employees approaching the set retirement age.

Therefore, some important issues for the Company will be transferring skills for the manufacturing of musical instruments and
other products to the next generation, recruiting and training the next group of employees, and dealing with changes in the
Company’s employment structure, If the Company is unable to respond sufficiently to changes in its employment structure, this
may be an obstacle to the future growth of its business activities.

11. Protection and Use of Intellectual Property

The Group has rights to intellectual property, including patents and other rights related to its proprietary technology as well as
operating know-how. Some of this intellectual property cannot be fully protected, or only protected marginally, because of the
limitations of legal systems in certain regions. Therefore, there may be instances where the Group cannot effectively prevent third
parties from misusing its intellectual property. As a result, some products of other companies may appear in the market that are
similar to or copies of those of Group companies, thus leading to the impairment of the Group’s sales. [n addition, there may be
cases where third parties point out that the Group's products infringe on their own intellectual property rights. As aresult, there is
a possibility that sales of Group products that use the intelleciual property in question may be delayed or suspended.

There are also instances where the Group is licensed in the intellectual property of third parties to produce key components for its
products. Any increases in royalties paid for such intellectual property will result in higher manufacturing costs and may have an
effect on price-competitiveness. Moreover, when “he Group is unable to receive licenses for certain intellectual property, it may
have to suspend manufacturing of the related products.

12. Defects in Products and Services

The Yamaha Group supervises the quality of its products in accordance with its corporate rules for quality assurance. However,
there is no guarantee that all products will be free of defects, The Group takes out insurance against product liability claims, but
there is no guarantee that this insurance will be su:Ticient to cover payment of damages. If issues related to product liability arise,
then it is likely that insurance rates will increase. [ addition, if costs related to the recovery of products, exchange and repair, and
making changes in design increase, the reputation of the Group in society will be damaged, which may result in a loss of sales,
and the performance and financial position of the ¢(iroup may deteriorate.

Also, although the Group pays careful attention to safety and sanitation at the retail shops, music schools, recreation
establishments, and other facilities that it operates, in the event of the occurrence of an accident, this may require a temporary
cessation of operations at the stores, music schools, or facilities as well as cause damage to the Group’s reputation; this, in turn,
may lead to a decline in sales.

13. Legal Regulations

All the Group's business operations around the world are subject to the laws and regulations of the countries where they are
located. Examples of such reguiations include laws that cover foreign investment, restrictions on expons and imports that may
have an effect on national security, commercial activity, anti-trust issues, consumer protection regulations, tax sysiems, and
environmental protection. [n addition, the Group tnust handle persenal information about its customers safely and confidentially.
The Yamaha Group takes special care to ensure that its activities are in compliance with legal regulations, but in the event that it




unexpectedly fails to comply with certain laws, there is a possibility that the Group's activities may be restricted and costs may
increase as a result.

14, Environmental Regulations

There is a trend toward making environmental regulations governing business activities more stringent, and corporations are
being requested to fulfill their corporate social responsibilities through the implementation of voluniary environmental programs.
The Yamaha Group works to implement policies that exceed the requirements of environmental regulations as regards products,
packaging materials, energy conservation, and the processing of industrial waste. However, there is no guarantee thal the Group
can completely prevent or reduce the occurrence of accidents in which restricted substances are released into the environment at
levels exceeding established regulations. Moreovet, in cases where soil pollution has ocourred on the land formerly occupied by
industrial plants, it may be necessary to spend substantial amounts of money for soil remediation when it is sold in the future, or
it may be impossible to sell the land. There is also a possibility that the soil on land that has already been sold to third parties may
release substances that are restricted, thus resulting in pollution of the air or underground water and requiring expenditures for
cleaning and remediation.

15. Information Leakage

The Group has important information regarding management and business matters as well as personal information related 1o a
wide range of individuals, To manage this important information properly, the Group has prepared policies and rules and put into
place systems for guarding the security of this information. In the event that this information is mistakenly leaked outside the
Group, this may have a major impact on the Group’s business activities or result in a decline in the confidence society and the
general public place in the Group,

16. Fluctuvations in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

The Yamaha Group conducts manufacturing and szles activilies in many parts of the world, and Group company transactions that
are denominated in foreign currencies may be afected by Nuctuations in currency rates. The Group makes use of forward
currency hedge transactions to minimize the impaet of foreign exchange rate fluctuations in the short term. However, there may
be instances where the Group cannot implement its. initial business plans due to exchange rate fluctuations. Especially in the case
of the yen and euro exchange rate, a one yen change will have an impact on profitability of about ¥400 million,

17. Effects of Earthquakes and Other Natural Disasters

in the event of earthquakes and other natural disastets, the production plants of the Yamaha Group may be damaged. In particular,
the Company's Head Office, domestic plants, and major subsidiaries arc concentrated in Shizuoka Prefecture, which is located in
the Tokai region of Japan, where a major earthquake has been forecast for some years. In addition, the Group’s overseas
manufacturing plants are concentrated in China, Indonesia, and Malaysia, where there is concern about the occurrence of
unexpected natural disasters.

In the event of such naturat disasters, the Yamaha (iroup may suffer damage to its facilities and may also be obliged to suspend or
postpone operation as well as incur major costs for returning these facilities to operating condition.

18. Items Related to Changes in Financial Position

a. Yaluation of Investment Securities

The companies of the Yamaha Group hold stock and other securities issued by their corporate customers and other companies
that have quoted market values. (Representing acquisition costs of ¥17.2 billion and recorded on the consolidated balance sheets
as ¥98.2 billion as of March 31, 2008.) Since other securities with quoted market values are revalued at each balance sheet date
based on the mark-to-market valuation methed, there is a possibility that the value of such securities may fluctuate from period to
period. As a result, this may have an impact on the Company's net assets. In addition, in cases where the market value of these
securitics falls markedly in comparison to their acquisition cost, there is a possibility that the value of such securities will have to
be written down.

b. Unrecognized Losses on Land Valuation

At the end of the fiscal year under review, the market value of the Group's land, revalued in accordance with relevant legal
regulations, including the Law concerning Reevaluation of Land, was ¥13.2 billion below the carrying value of such land on the
Group’s balence sheets. In the event of the sale, cr other disposal, of such land, this unrealized loss will be recognized and this
may negatively affect the Yamaha Group’s business results and/or financial position.

c. Retirement and Severance Liabilities and Related Expenses

The Yamaha Group computes its liabilities and cxpenses for retirement and scverance based on its retirement and severance
systems, a discount rate, and an expected rate of return on pension plan assets, In certain cases, the retirement and severance
systems may be changed and the estimate of such liabilities may change every accounting period. As a resull, there is a
possibility that retirement benefit liabilities and related costs may increase.

Especially in the event that expected returns on management of such assets cannot be realized because of declines in stock prices

and other factors, unreatized actuarial losses may arise, and there is a possibility that expenses for retirement and severance
purposes may increase.
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2. The Yamaha Group

The Yamaha Group consists of Yamaha Corporaticn in Japan, 104 subsidiaries, and 11 affiliates and is invelved in a wide range
of businesses, including the musical instruments, AV/IT, clectronic equipment and metal products, lifestyle-related products,
recreation, and others segments.

Our major products and services and major consclidated subsidiaries, as

Furthermore, business divisions are the same as business segments.

well as their positioning, are as shown below.

Business segment

Major products & services

Major consolidated subsidiaries

Musical instruments

Pianos, Digital musica! instruments,

Wind instruments, String instruments,
Percussion instruments, Educational

musical instruments, Professicnal audio
equipment, Soundproof rooms, Music schools,
English-language schoals, Content distribution
services, and Piano turing

Yamaha Music Tekyo Co,, Ltd., and 9 other
domestic musical instruments sales subsidiaries

Yamaha Cerporation of America

Yamaha Canada Music Ltd,

Yamaha Music Holding Europe GmbH

Yamaha Music Central Europe GmbH

Yamaha Music UK Lid.

Yamaha Musique France

PT. Yamaha Music Manufacturing Asia

Yamaha Music & Electronics (China) Co., L1d.

Tianjin Yamaha Electronic Musical Instruments, Inc.

Hangzhou Yamaha Musicat Instruments Co., 1.4d.

AVAT

Audio products and IT equipment

Yamaha Electronics Marketing Corporation
Yamaha Electronics Corperation, U.S.A.

Yamaha Elektronik Europa GmbH

Yamaha Electronics Manufacturing (M) Sdn. Bhd.
Yamaha Music & Electronics {China) Co., L1d.

Electronic equipment and
metal products

Semiconductors

Yamaha Kagoshima Semiconductor Inc,

Lifestyle-related products

System kitchens, System bathrooms, and
Washslands

Yamaha Livingtec Corporation

Recreation

Accommodation facilivies and Sports facilities

Katsuragi Co., L1d. and one other company

QOthers

Golf products, Automabile interior wood
companents, FA equipment, and Metallic
molds and componenits

Yamaha Fine Technotogies Co., Lid.

Principal consolidated subsidianies are recorded separately for each area of business in which they are engaged.
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3. Management Policies

(1) Basic Management Policy

The Yamaha Group aims Lo sustain its growth as a company that draws on its accumulated technologies and know-how in its core
field of sound and music as it works together with people throughout the world to enrich culture and create kendo®. To this end,
the Company will expedite decision-making processes, work to create technological innovation, strengthen its capabilities for
responding to rapidly changing markets, and meet customer needs through the constant development and provision of
superior-quality products and services. In addition, Yamaha will make effective use of ils management resources, rationalize and
improve the efficiency of its business practices, and secure a strong competitive position in the global marketplace. Furthermore,
the Company is seeking 1o increase the transpzrency of its management, make certain that it can realize solid business
performance, and accumulate and distribute earnings appropriately to ensure that it can meet the expectations of shareholders and
investors. Al the same time, the Company strives 12 act in accordance with the responsibilities as an exemplary corporate citizen
by giving due consideration to safety and envirormental protection and promoting its own rigorous comptiance with relevant
laws and regulations.

*Kando is a Japanese word 1hat signifies an inspired state of minc.

(2) Management Indicators Taken as Objectives

Under the medium-term business plan “YGP2010 {Yamaha Growth Plan 2010), covering the period from FY2008.3 to
FY2010.3,” the Group has set objectives of net sa’es of ¥590 billion, operating income of ¥45 billion, and ROE of 10% for the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2010, as well as free cash flow (FCF) totaling ¥55 billion over the three years of the pian.

(3) The Group’s Medium- to Long-Term Strategy and Issues to Be Addressed

The Yamaha Group is actively addressing the following issues to steadily implement the growth strategy outlined in its
medium-term business plan “YGP2010 (Yamaha Growth Plan 2010).”

1. Attain Growth in “The Sound Company” Business Domain

“The Sound Company” business domain encompasses the “musical instruments, audio, musical entertainment, AV/IT, and
semiconductors,” fields that are based on the Groap's sound, music, and network technologies. The Group has positioned this
domain as the driver of its growth and is aggressively investing management resources in this domain.

*Musical Instruments

Currently, the Group is working to reduce fixed costs, through the realignment of its manufacturing bases and the reform of its
business processes; develop products from the cusiomers” point of view and expand sales of high-value-added products; and, to
realize further business expansion in the high-growth BRICs* regions, is strengthening its sales capabilities in China and working
to move its business activities ento growth paths in Russia and India, where it established subsidiaries during the fiscal year
under review. Regarding Btsendorfer, which Yamaha acquired in January this year, plans call for maximizing the value of the
Bosendorfer brand and expanding sales as quickly as possible. In the music entertainment business, with Yamaha Music
Entertainment Holdings, Inc., which was established in June 2007, as the focal point, Yamaha is working aggressively to identify
and nurture new artists and support creative activitics while also endeavoring to strengthen its business base.

* “BRICs™ is the general term for high-growth economies and wa: derived from the first leters of Brazi! (B), Russta (R), India (1), and China (C).

*AVAT Products
The Group is working to strengthen its lineup of AV receivers as well as its front surround speakers and hi-fi systems and
products. The Group is also working to establish a position in the conferencing systems business.

*Electronic Devices

In this business area, the Group is implementing policies to secure profitability in LS| sound chips for mobile phone business
through improvements in value added and working to expand other businesses outside the field of L8] sound chips, including
silicon microphones and digital amplifiers,

2. Establish Strong Positions in the “Diversification” Business Domain

The Group's other businesses have been grouped in the “Diversification™ business domain and are being managed to maximize
the Group’s corperate value by establishing strong positions in the industries where these businesses operate and taking up the
challenge of pursuing new growth opportunities.

sLifestyle-Related Products

The Group is striving to increase sales and operating income by strengthening its product lineup, especially in the system kitchen
field; lowering manufacturing costs; and bolstering its sales and marketing capabilities through developing new sales channels
and the use of showrooms,
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«Others

In the golf products business, the Group will continue to implement its growth sirategy and substantially increase the awareness
of the “inpres™ brand. In the metallic molds and zomponents business, the Group is endeavoring to expand these activities by
developing mass-production technologies and esiablishing a new production base in China. In the factory automation (FA)
equipment business, the Group is focusing its product development activities on the development of products for the high-growth
IT, automobile, and certain other industries, while working 1o expand its sales channels for these products. In the automobile
interior wood components business, the Group is moving forward with measures 10 enhance its ability to respond swifily to
manufacturer model changes and further strengthen capabilitics for providing stable supplies of these components. In the
recreation business, the Group is working 1o improve profitability at its Tsumagoi and Katsuragi facilities and increase the
contribution of these facilities to strengthen the Yainaha brand.

3. Address Companywide Themes to Promote the Group’s Growth Strategy

The Group has formed a “Joint Brand Committee™ with Yamaha Motor Co., Ltd. with the aim of undertaking various activities to
increase the value of the Yamaha brand. To strengthen and wiilize human resources effectively, the Group is also taking steps to
revitalize its training and human resource development aclivities to increase responsiveness to changes in the operating
environment. To make the best use of its global Web infrastructure, the Group is also placing increased emphasis on using this
infrastructure for management and marketing.

4. Enhance Corporate Governance to Bolster Comprehensive Group Strengths

Organized redevelopment of internal control systems on a Groupwide basis is continuing. Moreover, regarding corporate social
responsibility (CSR) activities, the Group is engaged in activilies to contribute to society, including providing support for
concents, and is undertaking a wide range of environmentally conscious activities to reduce the effects on the natural ¢nvironment,
including the recycling of resources.

(4) Other Important Matters Related t¢ Management

1. Regarding Litigation against Yamaha's Subsidiary

On November 29, 2005, ACE PRO SOUND AND RECORDING, L.L.C. {(Headquarters in Florida, United States; lines of
business: retail sales of musical instruments, audio equipment, and other products; hercinafier, the plaintifi) brought a suit against
sellers of musical instruments and audio equipinent (hereinafter, defendants), including Yamaha Corporation of America
(hereinafier, YCA), one of Yamaha's principal U.S. subsidiaries, demanding compensation for damages incurred by the
defendants because of refusal of transactions with the plaintiff by the defendams. YCA responded to this lawsuit by emphasizing
that the requests of the plaintiff for compensation for damages were unfounded.

Efforts were continuing to reach a settlement with parties to this lawsuit, but on September 26, 2007, the plaintiff withdrew all
claims against the defendants and the legal proceedings were terminated.
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4. Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Consolidated Balance Sheets

Millions of yen

FY2008.3 FY2007.3 Increase
(As of Mar, 31, 2008) {As of Mar. 31, 2007) (decrease)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and bank deposits ¥ 73,619 ¥ 46,702 ¥ 26917
Notes and accounts receivable—urade 68,680 78,669 (9,989}
Marketable securities 31,200 419 30,781
Inventories 76,304 82,214 (5,910}
Deferred income taxes 17,642 17,724 (82)
(Other current assets 11,861 7362 4,400
Allowance for doubiful accounts (3,554) (2,060} (1,494)
Total current assets 275,754 231,033 44,721
Fixed assets:
Tangible assets:
Buildings and structures 41,602 46,179 (3,577)
Machinery, equipment and conveyance devices 18,594 23,034 (4,440)
Tools, furniture and fixtures 13,115 15,339 (2,224}
Land 61,134 63,495 (2.361)
Construction in progress 4,129 1,824 2,305
Total tangible assets 139,578 149 872 (10,297}
Intangible assets:
Goodwill 1,304 1,521 (217)
Other intangible assets 1,166 1,429 {263)
Total intangible assels 12,471 2,951 {480)
Investments and other assets:
Investment securities 109,943 150,369 (40,426)
Long-term loans 265 524 (259)
Deferred income taxes 1,065 16,790 (14,725)
Guarantee deposits for leased real estate 6,264 5,986 278
Other assets 4910 2,527 2,383
Allowance for doubtfu! accounts (904) {1.022) 118
Total investments and other assets 122,544 175,174 (52,630}
Total fixed assets 264,592 327998 (63,406)
Total assets ¥540,347 ¥559,031 ¥(18,684)

Note: Figures of less than ¥1 millien have been omitted.
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Millions of yen

FY10083 FY2007.3 Increase
(As of Mar, 31, 2008) (As of Mar. 31, 2007) {Decrease}
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Notes and accounts payable—trade ¥ 35,017 ¥ 43,185 ¥ (8,148)
Shorn-term loans 14,419 15118 {699)
Current portion of long-term debt 4,472 4301 171
Accrued expenses and accrued payables 41,443 54,415 (12,972)
Income taxes payable 14,916 6,012 8,904
Specific advances received 1,840 2273 (433)
Deferred income taxes 7 22 15)
Reserve for directors’ bonuses 120 100 20
Product warranty reserve 3,755 4,266 (511)
Reserve for loss on goods unsold 98 121 23)
Reserve for structural reform expenses —_ 1,488 (1,488)
Deferred unrealized profit [3 4 2
Other current liabilities 4,077 5,365 (1,288)
Total current liabilities 120,174 136,656 {16,482)
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt 2,145 6,132 {3,987)
Deferred income taxes 13,999 239 13,760
Deferred income taxes on land revaluation 16,811 17,735 (924}
Accrued employees” retirement benefits 25,311 27,140 (1,829)
Long-term deposits received 17,040 17,424 (384)
Other long-term liabilities 1,836 2,303 (467)
Total long-term liabilities 77,144 70,977 6,167
Total liabilities ¥197,318 ¥207,633 ¥(10.315)
NET ASSETS
Sharcholders’ equity:
Common stock 28,534 28,534 —
Capital surplus 40,054 40,054 —
Retained eamings 229,307 260,555 (31,248)
Treasury stock, at cost (326) (339) 13
Total shareholders’ equity 297,570 328,804 (31,234)
Valuation and transtation adjustments:
Net unrealized holding gain on other securities 48,945 13,718 35,227
Gain (loss) on deferred hedges 207 (406} 613
Land revaluation difference 14,861 18,116 (3,255)
Translation adjustments (21,940) (13,765) (8,175)
Total valuation and translation adjusiments 42,074 17,662 24,412
Minority interests 3,383 4,931 (1,548)
Total net assels 343,028 351,398 (8.370)
Total liabilities and net assets ¥540,347 ¥559.031 ¥(18,684)

Note: Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omitted.




(2} Consolidated Statements of Operations

FY2008.3

{Apr. 1, 2007-Mar. 31, 2008)

FY2007.3

(Apr. 1, 2006-Mar. 31, 2007)

Increase
(deerease)

Millions of yen % Millions of yen % Millions of yen
Net sales Y548,754 100.0 ¥550,361 100.0 ¥ (1,607)
Cost of sales 343,686 62.6 352,382 64.0 (8.696)
Gross profit 205,067 37.4 197,979 36.0 7,088
Deferred unrealized profit (1) 1 2)
Total gross profit 205,066 37.4 197,980 36.0 7,086
Selling, general and administrative expenses 172,220 314 170,295 310 1925
Operating income 32,845 6.0 27,685 5.0 5,160
Non-operating income:
Interest received 1,203 648 555
Dividends received 2,721 435 2,286
Equity in earnmings of unconsolidated
subsidiaries and affiliates 145 17,764 (17,619)
Other 2,120 2,485 (365}
Total non-operating income 6,192 1.1 21,334 3.9 (15,142)
Non-operating expenses:
Interest paid 1,068 972 96
Cash discounts 4,108 437N (266}
Other 1,278 1,048 230
Tolal non-operating expenses 6,453 1.2 6,393 1.2 60
Recurring profit 32,584 5.9 42,626 1.7 (10,042)
Extraordinary income:
Gain on sale of fixed assets 1,656 330 1,326
Reversal of product warranty reserve 188 244 44
Gain on sale of investment securities 763 31 732
Gain on sale of stocks of affiliates 29,756 — 29,756
Reversal of reserve for struciural reform expenses 260 — 260
Total extraordinary income 32,725 6.0 606 0.1 32,119
Extraordinary loss:
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 870 1,354 (524)
L oss on revaluation of investment securities 263 14 249
Loss on sale of stocks in affilintes 699 - 699
Loss on sale of equity investments in subsidiaries 21 — 21
Loss on revaluation of stocks in subsidiaries and affilia:es 63 119 (56)
Loss on revaluation of equity investments in subsidiaries and 66 — 66
affiliates
Special retirement payment 814 728 86
Impairment losses —_ 4,728 (4,728)
Structural reform expenses — 3,146 (3,146)
Total extraordinary loss 2,799 0.5 10,130 1.8 (7,331)
Income before incame taxes and minority interests 62,510 1.4 33,101 6.0 29,409
Current income taxes 17,552 3.2 7.010 1.2 10,542
Deferred income taxes 4,710 0.9 (2,268) (0.4) 6,678
Minority interests 689 0.1 493 0.1 196
Net income ¥ 39,558 7.2 ¥ 27,866 5.1 ¥11,692

Note: Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omitted.

16




(3) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007—March 31, 2008) {Millions of yen)
Sharehalders® Equity Vlluali:)::md Transtation
Net . Minority | Total net
e |t | | |l TR | S e | e | |
fost equity on other hedges adjustnents
secuntics
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥28.534 ¥40,054 ¥160,555 ¥{339} Y328 804 YI1L,718 V(406) YI&EIG ¥(13,765) | VIT662 | ¥ 4,931 |V35) 398
Changea during the period
Dividends from surplus (7,136) (7,736) (7.736)
Net income for the period 39,558 39,558 3955
Changes in the stope of contolidation {656) (656) (656)
“m‘ri&fwmm“”"mm 60,275) Q (60,232) 160,232}
Revoel e frad aas @ 050
Purchases of Teasury stock (29 2% (29
Changes, nct. in i“.‘z;“"i‘t';" 3527 a4 | Qs mats | 4 | 05 | 12864
Total changes duting the period - - 131,247y 13 (31,234) 35,117 614 {3.254) (8,175) 24,40 {1,547) {3369)
Balance st March 31, 2008 ¥i3.5H 10,054 ¥!19.307 ¥(326) V19751 V48,945 ¥ 07 ¥l4851 ¥21,940) | wa2024 ¥ 3383 [¥yMI021
Note: Figures of less than ¥} million have been omitted.
FY2007.3 (April 1, 2006—March 31, 2007) (Millions of yen)
Sharcholders® Bquity Vllulll:l:llnd Translation
Net _| Minonty | Total net
Comoen | oo | et | T | (| S | | e | s | e
cost equily ::: :::ic; hedges difference adjustments
Balance st March 31, 2006 ¥R 534 ¥30,054 ¥136913 ¥(302) Y305,1%9 ¥15,4%0 vy - Y18,426 {23,091} | YI0.B05 V4,472 1 ¥VIX0A4TT
Changes during the period
Drividends from surplus {4,126} {4,126} (4,126}
Net income for the period 27,566 27,366 27,860
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0) 0) (0}
Changes in interests in subsidianes (138) [} (138) ' (t3%)
et ot
P w &
Purchases of reasury stock {37 37 37
C;‘:‘"’;:'"mi:cff:’ “i";’ (1,752 ($08) aosy | 9z 6457 458 7315
Tota! changes during the period - - 13,642 an 23,604 1,752 (406) 309 9,325 6,857 458 | 30920
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥2K,534 ¥40,054 Y60,55% ¥(339) Y328,R04 Y13,718 ¥ (406) Y1816 V(13,765 | ¥17,662 ¥4931 [V351,398

Note: Figures of less than ¥) million have been omitied,




{4) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Millions of yen

FY 2008.3
(Apr. 1, 2007-Mar. 31, 2008)

FY 20073
{Apr. 1,2006-Mar. 31, 2007)

Cash flows from operating activitics:

Income before income taxes and minority inferests ¥ 62,510 ¥33,101
Depreciation and amortization 20,289 19,956
Impairment losses — 4,728
Amortization of goodwill 539 507
{Decrease) increase in allowance for doubtful accounts {366} {167)
Loss on sale of stocks of affiliates 699 —
Loss on sale of equity investments in subsidiaries i) —
Loss on revaluation of stocks in subsidiaries and affiliates 63 119
Loss on revaluation of equity investments in subsidiaries and affiliates 66 —
Loss on revaluation of invesiment securities 263 14
(Decrease) increase in employees’ retirement benefits, net of payments (1,276) (858)
Interest and dividend income (3,925) (1,084)
Interest paid 1,068 972
{Gain) loss on foreign exchange 393 49
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and aiTiliates (145} (17,764)
Gain on sale of investment securilies {763) (31)
Gain on sale of stocks of affiliates (29,756) —
Gain on sale of fixed assels (1,656) (330)
Loss on disposal of fixed assels 8§70 1,394
Structural reform expenses — 3,146
Special retirement payments 814 728
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts and notes receivable—trade 3,093 (4,537)

Inventories (3,8449) (2,202)

Accounts and notes payable—trade (1,800) 5,272
Other, net (4,040) (1,709)

Subtotal 43,118 31,245
Interest and dividends receivable 3,912 3.437
Interest paid (1,079) (971)
Income taxes paid (8,725) (3,978)
Net cash provided by operating activities 37,228 39,732
Cash Nows from investing activities:
Nel increase (decrease) in time deposits {298} 254
Purchases of fixed assets (25,364) (22,863)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 6,316 1,094
Purchases of investment securities (84) (1,163)
Proceeds from sales and redemption of investment securities 811 77
Payments for acquisition of stock of subsidiaries (2,268) —
Proceeds from the sale of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates 67,778 —
Payments for capital investments in subsidiaries (3,020) —
Decline due 1o exclusion from consolidation accompanying sale of equity
investments in subsidiarics 3) —

Payments for capital invesiments {0) (0)
Payments for loans receivable 2319 {19
Collection of toans receivabte 445 184
Other, net 2 9
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 41,999 (22,427
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase {decrease} in short-term loans 190 (1,561)
Proceeds from long-term debt 2212 4,235
Repayments of long-term debt {4,256) (51513
Proceeds from resort membership deposits 13 i2
Repayments of resort membership deposits {9,433) {969)
Purchases of treasury stock 29 37
Cash dividends paid (7,736} {4,126)
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (224) (248)
Net cash used in financing activities {19,314) (8,246)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,398) 1,364
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 57,512 10,523
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 45,926 35434
Increase in cash nnd cash equivalents arising

frem inclusion of subsidiaries in consolidation at beginning of period 41 —
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents arising from exclusion of subsidiaries

from consolidation at beginning of period {108) (31)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ¥103,371 ¥45.926

Note: Figures of less than ¥ 1 million have been omitted,
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(5) Basic Items for the Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Scope of Consclidation

Consolidated subsidiaries: 87 companies
During FY2008.3, one domestic and two overseas subsidiarics were newly included in the consolidated Group. 1n addition, six
domestic and three overseas subsidiaries were removed from the consolidated Group.

Names of major consolidated subsidiaries:
The names of major consolidated subsidiaries are listed in the section of this report entitled “2. The Yamaha Group™ on page
11 and therefore are not shown here.

The name of the major non-consolidated subsidiary that is not included in the consolidated Group and the reasons for its
exclusion are as follows:
Yamaha Life Service Co., Lid.
The effect of the assets, net sales, net income/loss, and retained earnings of non-consolidated subsidiaries on the consolidated
financial statements was not material.

2. Application of Equity Method

Non-consolidated subsidiaries accounted for by the equity method: one company
Beginning with the fiscal year under review, two companies, formerly accounted for by the equity method, have been
excluded.

Major non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates to which the equity method has not been applied:
Yamaha Life Service Co., Ltd.

Reasons why the equity method has not been applied:
The effect of net income/loss and relained earnings of non-consolidaled subsidiaries and affiliates on the consolidated
financial results, considered individually and in tatal, was not material.

3. Fiscal Year of Consolidated Subsidiaries
Setilement days for consolidated subsidiaries, with the exception of the following eight companies, are all the same as that for the
Company.
Yamaha de México, S.A. de C.V.
Tianjin Yamaha Electronic Musical [nstruments, [nc.
Yamaha Trading (Shanghai) Co., Lid.
Xiaoshan Yamaha Musical Instruments Co., Lid.
Yamaha Music & Electronics {China)} Co., Ltd.
Yamaha Electronics (Suzhou) Co., Lid.
Hangzhou Yamaha Musical [nstruments Co., Lid.
Yamaha Music Technical (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

The fiscal periods of all of the above-listed eight companies ended December 31, and the determination of these accounts was
based on rational procedures in accordance with procedures for regular accounts.

4. Accounting Standards

a) Basis and Method of Evaluation of Significant #\ssets

1. Marketable Securities
Securities to be held until maturity: At amortized cost (straight-line methed)
Other Marketable Securities
With market valuc: Stated at fair market value as of the balance sheet date (changes in fair value are accounted for
under the direct addition to the shareholders” equity method, and the periodic average method is
used to calculate the sale value.)
Without market value; At cost, determined by the periodic average method
2, Derivatives
At fair value
3. Inveniories
Inventories of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are stated principally at the lower of cost or market, cost
being determined by the last-in, first-out method. Inventories of the Company’s foreign consolidated subsidiaries are stated
principally at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined by the moving-average method,

19




&) Method of Depreciation

1. Tangible Fixed Assets
Mainly calculated by the declining-balance method except facilities connected to certain consolidated subsidiaries that employ
the straight-line method.

Useful lives of tangible fixed assets are as follows:

Buildings: 31-50 years (attachment facilities are mainly 15 years)
Structures: 10-30 years

Machinery and equipment: 4-11 years

Tools, furniture and fixtures: 5-6 years (metallic molds are mainly two years)

Changes in Accounting Methods

Accompanying revisions in Japan’s Corporate Tax Law that became effective in fiscal 2007, the Company and its domestic
consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the declining-balance method for calculating depreciation for tangible fixed assets
acquired on or after April 1, 2007, using a rate that is 2.5 times the rate that would have been used for the straight-line method.

As a result of this change, operating income, recurring profit, and income before income taxes and minority interests were each
¥52.9 million lower and net income was ¥34.9 million lower than they would have been without this change.

Note that the effect of this change by segment is shown in the relevant segment information,

Supplementary Information

Accompanying revisions in Japan's Corporate Tax Law that became effective in fiscal 2007, the Company and its domestic
consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the following methed for the treatment of tangible fixed assets that were purchased on or
before March 31, 2007, and have been fully depreciated 1o the limits prescribed in previous corporate tax provisions. The
remaining value of such assets will be depreciated in equal amounts over a five-year period.

As a result of this change, operating income, recurting profit, and income before income taxes and minority interests were each
¥92.7 million lower and net income was ¥58.8 million lower than they would have been without this change.

Note that the effect of this change by segment is shown in the relevant segment infermaiion.

¢) Accounting for Reserves and Benefits

1. Allowance lor Doubtfu! Accounts

To properly evaluate accounts receivable and make provisions for possible losses on doubtful accounts, provisions for normal
accounts in good standing are calculated using historical default ratios based on debt loss experience. Provisions for doubtful
accounts are calculated by examining the probability of recovery for individua! accounts and setting aside an amount equivalent
to the portion deemed to be unrecoverable.

2. Reserve for Directors’ Bonuses
To provide for the payment of bonuses to Directors, the projecied amounl of such bonuses is set aside as a reserve.

3. Product Warranty Reserve

To provide for the expense of repairing products afler their sale, the amount of provision for product warranties is determined
using ratios of expense to net sales and unit sales based on past experience or using expense estimates for individual product
categories,

4. Accrued Employees® Retirement Benefits
Accrued employees” retirement benefits are provid:d on an accruat basis based on the projected retirement benefit obligation and
the pension fund assets calculated using various actuarial assumptions as of the end of the period.

Prior service cost is being amortized as incurred by the straight-line method over periods (10 years) which are shorter than the
average remaining years of service of the employees.

Actual ‘gain and loss are amortized in the year fallowing the vear in which the gain or loss is recognized primarily by the
siraight-line method over periods (10 years) which are shorter than the average remaining years of service of the employees.

d} Foreign Currency Transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the current exchange rates in effect at each balance sheet date. The resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognized as
other income or expenses. Assets and liabilities of the foreign consolidated subsidiaries are translated at the current exchange
rates in effect at each balance sheet date and reven ¢ and expense accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange in effect
during the year, Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in the translation adjustments and minority interests item
under net assets.

e Accounting for Lease Transactions
Lease agreements are generally accounted for as operating leases, except that lease agreements which stipulate the transfer of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee are acccunted for as finance leases.
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J} Hedge Accounting

1. Method of Hedge Accounting

Translation differences arising from forward foreigh exchange contracts with respect to receivables and payables denominated in
foreign currencies are accounted for using the allocation method. Anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currencies
designated as hedging instruments are accounted for using deferral hedge accounting.

2. Hedging Instruments and Hedged liems
Hedging instruments: Forward foreign exchange contracts, purchased options with foreign currency-denominated put and
yen-denominated call options
Hedged items: Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies and anticipated transactions denominated
in foreign currencies
3. Hedging Policy
The Company and consolidated subsidiaries enter into forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options as hedging

insiruments within the limit of actual foreign transuctions to reduce risk arising from future fluctuations of foreign exchange rates
with respect to export and import transactions in accordance with the internal management rules of each company.

4. Assessment of Effectiveness for Hedging Activities

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries do not make an assessment of effectiveness for hedging activities because the
anticipated cash flows fixed by hedging activities and avoidance of market risk are clear; therefore, there is no need to evaluate
such effectiveness.

g2) Accounting for Consumption Tax

Income and expenses are recorded net of consumption tax,

5. Valuation of Assets and Liabilities of Consolidated Subsidiaries
Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are valued using the full fair value method.

6. Amortization of Goodwill
The excess of cosis over the net assels of acquired subsidiaries is amortized over a period of five years on a straight-line basis.

7. Scope of Cash Equivalents in Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Currency on hand, bank deposits, and all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased and
which are readily convertible into cash and are exposed to insignificant risk of changes in value are considered cash equivalents.
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{6) Additional Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheets
1. Accumulated Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets

(Millions of yen’

FY20083 FY2007.3

{As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Accumulated depreciation of tangible fixed assets ¥215,202 ¥250,745

2. Mortgaged Assets {Millions of yen)

FY20083 *' FY2007.3%7

{As of March 31, 2008) (As of March 31, 2007)
Of marketable securities ¥ 600 ¥ 399
Of tangible fixed assets 207 207
Of investment securities 695 1,059
Total ¥1,503 ¥1,666

*1: The above assets were pledged as collateral for short-term loa1s of ¥20 millien and specific advances received of ¥1,840 million.

*2: The above nssets were pledged as collateral for short-term loa1s of ¥20 millien and specific advances received of ¥2,273 million,

3, Investments in Non-Consolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates

(Millions of yen

FY2003.3 FY20073
(As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Investment securities ¥2,573 ¥110,580
Other assets of investments and other assets {capital inv:stments) 3,245 417
4. Contingent Liabilities {Millions of yen)
FY20033 FY20073
(Asof March 31,2008} | {Asof March 31, 2007)

Guarantees, etc., of
operating liabilities

Guaranitzes, et ., of
operating labilities

Contingent liabilities ¥823 ¥645
3. Discount on Export Bills Recelvable (Millions of yen
FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008} {As of March 31, 2007}
Discount on export bills receivable ¥1,040 ¥882

6. Treatment of Notes Maturing on the Date of the Closing af Accounts
The date of settlement of notes that mature on the Jate of the closing of accounts is taken to be the date when the notes clear the
exchange. Please note that since the closing date for the fiscal year under review was a note exchange holiday, the following

balances contain some notes that will mature on the final date of the next closing of accounts,

(Millions of yen}

FY2008.3 FY20073

(As of March 31, 2008) (As of March 31, 2007)
Notes receivable — ¥1.918
Notes payable — 631

7. Revaluation of Land
The Company and a consolidated subsidiary have carried cut the revaluation of landholdings in accordance with the Law
Regarding the Partial Revision to the Land Revaluation Law (Law No. 34, published on March 31, 1998),

(1) Date of Revaluation

A consolidated subsidiary: March 31, 2000

The Company; March 31, 2002

(2) Revaluation Method

As provided for in Article 2-3 of the Enforcement Order for the Land Revaluation Law {Cabinet Order No. 119, issued on May

31, 1998), land values were determined based on the “land prices registered in the land tax list specified in Article No. 341, No.
10, of the Local Tax Law or the supplementary lanc tax list specified in No. 11 of the same Article No, 341,

(3) Difference between Current Market Value at Year-End and Book Value after Revaluation {Millions of yen)

FY1008.3 F¥Y2007.3
(As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Difference in land revaluation ¥(13,246) ¥(18,954)
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Notes to the Consolidated Statements of Operations
1. Principal Items of Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

{Millions of yen}

FYi0083 FY2007.3

{(Ended March 31, 2008) | (Ended March 31, 2007)
Sales commissions ¥ 2,368 ¥ 2,685
Transport expenses 17,35% 16,318
Advertising expenses and sales promotion expenses 29,033 26,388
Allowance for doubtful accounts 177 842
Product warranty reserve 1,499 2,170
Provision to reserve for directors’ bonuses 120 100
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits 4,218 4,489
Salaries and benefits 67,487 638,211
Rent 4,638 4,287
Depreciation and amontization 4,470 4,721

2. R& D Expenses (Milhons of yen)

FY1003.3 FY2007.3

(Ended March 31,2008} | (Ended March 31, 2007)
Included in general and administrative expenses and currznt manufaciuring expenses ¥24,865 ¥24,220

3. Gains on Sale of Fixed Assets
During the peried, gains were principally related to land sales.

4. Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets

Principal items disposed of during the fiscal year under review were machinery, equipment, and conveyance devices, and tools

and fxtures.

3. Special Retirement Payment

Additional retirement payments were made due to the implementation of a special early retirement system.
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Notes to Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

For FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007—March 31, 2008}

1. Number of Shares Issued

Type of shares End of previous fiscal Increase Decrease End of fiscal year under
year review
Common shares 9
{(Number of shares) 206,524,626 — 206,524,626
2, Treasury Stock
Type of shares End of previous fiscal Increase Decrease End of fiscal year under
year review
Common shares
{Number of shares) 406,347 11,697 183,463 234,581

Outline of reasons for the changes:

The breakdown of the increase in treasury stock:
Increase owing to purchase of outstanding shar:s less than one trading unit: 11,697 shares

The breakdown of the decrease in treasury stock:
Decrease owing to changes in holdings of wreasury stock by companies accounted for under the equity methed: 183,463

shares

3. Bonds with Rights to Purchase New Shares

None issued.

4. Cash Dividends

(1} Amount of dividend payments

L Total dividends Dividends per "
Date of decision Type of shares (Millions of yen) share (Yen) Effective date
June 26, 2007
(General Meeting of Common shares ¥2,578 ¥12.50 Mar, 31, 2007 June 27, 2007
Shareholders)
Oct, 31, 2007
(Board of Directors) Commen shares ¥5,157 ¥25.00 Sept. 30, 2007 Dec. 10, 2007

(2) Dividends for which the base date falls in the fiscal year under review, but the effective date of dividends is in the following

fiscal year
. Source of Total dividends Dividends per -
Date of decision Type of shares dividends {Miltions of ven) share (Yen) Base date Effective date
Jung 25, 2008
{General Meeting Common stock Retained earnings ¥5.157 ¥2500 Mar, 31, 2008 June 26, 2008
of Shareholders}
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For FY2007.3 (April 1, 2006 —March 31, 2007)

1. Number of Shares Issued

Type of shares End of previous fiscal Increase Decrease End of fiscal year under
year review
Common shares .
{Number of shares) 206,524,626 - - 206,524,626
2. Treasury Stock
Type of shares End of previous fiscal Increase Decrease End of fiscal year under
year review
Common shares
(Number of shares) 390,902 15,775 330 406,347

Outline of reasons for the changes:

The breakdown of the increase in treasury stock;
Increase owing to purchase of outstanding shares less than one trading unit: 15,775 shares

The breakdown of the decrease in treasury stock:
Decrease owing to changes in holdings of treesury stock by companies accounted for under the equity method: 330 shares

3. Bonds with Rights to Purchase New Shares

None issued.

4. Cash Dividends

(1) Amount of dividend payments

Date of decision Type of shares &%ﬁ:;::f;;g:) T;;?:?gigr Eftective date
June 27, 2006

{General Meeting of Common shares ¥2,063 ¥10.00 Mar, 31, 2006 June 28, 2006
Shareholders)

(Boff‘i";f’éfr‘igfm) Common shares ¥2.063 ¥10.00 Sept. 30, 2006 Dec. 11,2006

(2) Dividends for which the base date falls in the 1iscal year under review, but the effective date of dividends is in the following

fiscal year

Date of decision

Type of shares

Source of
dividends

Total dividends
{Millions of yen)

Dividends per
share (Yen}

Eflective date

Tune 26, 2007
{General Meeting
of Shareholders)

Common stock

Retained earnings

¥2,578

¥12.50

Mar. 31, 2007

June 27, 2007
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Notes to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

1. Reconciiiation between Cash and Cash Equivalents and Cash and Bank Deposits in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Mitlians of yen)

FY20083 FY2007.3
(Ended March 31, 2008) (Ended March 3t, 2007)
Cash and bank deposits ¥ 13,619 ¥46,702
Time deposits with maturity of more than three months (648) (776)
Short-term (securities) investments (hat are due for redempition 30.400 -
in three months or less from the date of purchase ’
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ¥103,3711 ¥45.926

2. Breakdown of Principal Assets and Liabilities of a Company Exciuded from Consolidation because of the Sale of Its Shares

Held by the Company
For FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007 —March 31, 2008)

Yamaha Metanix Co., Ltd. (As of September 30, 2008)

(Millians of yen)

Current assels ¥ 7911
Fixed assets 5,907
Total ¥13,819

(Mitlions of yen)

Current liabilities ¥6,176
Long-term liabilities 2,250
Tolal ¥3,426
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Segment Information

L. Business Segmenis

{(FY2008.3 ended March 31, 2008)

(Millions of yen)

Electronic Lifestyl Elimi
Musical cquipment ifestyle- ) iminatiens )
. AVAT related Recreation Others Total or unalfocated | Censolidated
instrumenis and metal
products amounts
praxlucts
Sales to external cusiomers | ¥340,021 ¥70,814 ¥45,000 ¥45,520 ¥11,353 ¥ 36,044 ¥548,754 ¥ — ¥548,754
I[ntersegment sales or
transfers — — 1,316 — — — 1,316 (1,316} —
Total sales 340,021 70,814 46,316 45,520 11,353 36,044 550,070 (1,316) 548,754
Operating expenses 312,096 68,974 44,452 44,931 12,456 343 517,225 (1,316) 515,908
Operating income (foss) ¥ 27,924 ¥ 1,839 ¥ 1,863 y 588 ¥(L,103yy ¥ LT3 ¥ 32,845 ¥ - ¥ 32,845
ASSELS ¥311,642 ¥43,861 ¥33,086 ¥21,585 ¥ 8,062 ¥122,10% ¥540,347 ¥ — ¥540,347
Depreciation and YI10,156 | ¥ 1,794 | ¥4618 | V1,063 | ¥ 926 | ¥ 1,730 | ¥ 20,289 - ¥ 20,289
amortization
Capital expenditures ¥ 16,472 ¥ 2,009 ¥ 2,435 Y 647 ¥ 600 ¥ 2,228 ¥ 24,394 ¥ —_ ¥ 24,394
FY2007.3 ended March 31, 2007) {Miltions of yen)
Electronic Lifestyl Eliminati
Musical equi;-mcm 1estyle- . iminations .
. AVAT elated Reereation Others Toral or unallocated | Consolidated
instruments and inetal
procucts products amounts
Sales to external customers | ¥325,989 ¥72,823 ¥51,809 ¥46,573 ¥ 17,800 ¥ 32,365 ¥550,361 ¥ - ¥550,361
Intersegment sales or
transfers — — 1,714 — — — 1,714 (1,714) —
Total sales 325,989 72,823 55,524 46,573 17,800 32,365 552,076 (1.714) 550,361
Operating expenses 303,951 70,685 53,423 45,422 19,337 31,570 524,391 (1,714) 522,676
Operating income (loss} ¥ 22,037 ¥ 2,137 ¥ 3,101 ¥ 1,150 ¥ (1,536)| ¥ 794 ¥ 27,685 ¥ - ¥ 27685
Assets ¥283,605 ¥41,807 ¥43,759 ¥22.814 ¥ 13454 ¥148,589 ¥559,031 ¥ — ¥559,031
Depreciation and ¥ 9242 | ¥ 1610 ¥a676 | ¥ 1007 | ¥ 1452 ¥ 1967 | ¥ 19956 ¥ — ¥ 19,956
amortization
Impairment loss ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 4,728 ¥ — ¥ 47128 ¥ — ¥ 4,728
Capital expenditures ¥ 14,817 ¥ 1,539 ¥ 4,395 ¥ 1,303 ¥ 1,464 ¥ 1,63t ¥ 25,152 ¥ — ¥ 25,152

Notes: |. Business sectors: Divided inta the categories of musical instruments, AV/T, electronic equipment and metal products, lifestyle-related products, recreation and
others based on consideration of similarities of product type, characteristics and market, eic.

[y

bl

kol

Major products and services of each business segment are shywn in “2. The Yamaha Group™ on page 1.

. Asscts of the Others business include the value of invesime it securities held an Yamaha Motor Co., L1d , which was an affiliate accounted for under the equity

method through the end of previous fiscal year, as follows:

End of fiscal year under review: ¥ 78,206 millioa (marker value)

End of previous fiscal year: ¥103,083 million (equity method)

Changes in Accounting Methods

Begmnmg with the year under rewcw accompanying changes in accounting methods as desenibed 1n “(5) Basic Items for the Preparation of the Conselidated
Fi | S 15: 4. A Standards b) Method of Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets (Changes in Accounting Methods),” operating expenses were
higher and operating income for thc consolidated accounting period was lower than they would have been under the previous accounting methods, Specifically,
by segment, operating expenses for musical instruments wire ¥213 maltion higher, for AVAT were ¥535 million greater, for electronic equipment and metal
products were ¥162 million higher, for lifestyle-related products were ¥35 million greater, for recreation were ¥9 million more, and for others were ¥52 million
higher than they would have been otherwise, and operating income was lower by the same amount of the respective increases in operating expenses.
Supplementary Infermation

Beginning with the year under review, accompanying changes in accounting methods as described in “(5) Basic Items for the Preparation of the Consclidated
Financial Statements: 4, Accounting Standards b) Methed of Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets (Supplementary Information),” operaling expenses were
higher and operating income for the consolidated accouating period was lower than they would have been under the previcus accounting methods. Specifically,
by segment, operating expenses for musical instruments ware ¥457 million higher, for AV/AT were ¥37 million greater, for clectronic equipment and metal
products were ¥319 million higher, for lifestyle-related produ cts were ¥49 million greater, for recreation were ¥31 million more, and for others were ¥33 millon
higher than they would have been otherwise, and operating income was lower by the same amount of the respective ingreases in operating expenses,
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2. Geographical Segments

(FY2008.3 ended March 31, 2008)

(Millions of yen)

North Asia, Eliminstions or
Japan A ort Europe Oceania, and Total unaflocated Consolidated
merica
other areas RMOUNis
Sales to extemnal customers ¥293,384 ¥89,828 Y102,156 Y 63,384 ¥548,754 ¥ — Y548,754
Intersegment sales or transfers 165,336 1,729 1,134 75,318 243,519 (243,519) —
Total sales 458,721 91,558 103,290 138,702 792,273 (243,519} 548,754
Operating expenses 444,150 86,664 97,484 130,743 759,042 (243,134) 515,908
Operating income ¥ 14,571 ¥4,893 ¥ 5,806 ¥ 7959 ¥ 33230 ¥ (385) ¥ 32,845
Assels ¥421,207 ¥31.368 ¥ 44,801 ¥ 62,638 | ¥560,015 ¥ (19,668) ¥540,347
{FY2007.3 ended March 31, 2007) {Millions of yen)
Narth Asia, Eliminations o1
Japan Amcrica Europe Oceania, and Totat unallocated Consolidated

et other ascas amounts
Sales 1o external customers ¥307 486 ¥93.131 ¥95326 ¥ 54418 ¥550,361 ¥ — ¥550,361
Intersegment sales or transfers 155.99] 2075 1,238 69,068 228374 (228,374) —_
Total sales 463477 95,206 96,565 123,486 778,736 (228,374) 550,361
Operating expenses 447406 T 91,668 92,164 118,380 749,620 (226,944) 522,676
Operating income ¥ 16,07t ¥ 3,538 ¥ 4,400 ¥ 5105 ¥ 29115 ¥ (1,430) ¥ 27685
Assets ¥437.839 ¥37618 : ¥44,039 ¥ 64,242 ¥583,740 ¥ (24,708) ¥559.031

Nates: 1. Division by country or region is based on geographical proximity.

2, Main country and segional divisions other than Japan:

North America U.5 A, Canada
Europe: Germany, France, UK.

Asia, Oceania, and other arcas: People’s Republie of Clina, Republic of Korea, Ausiralia

3. Overseas Sales

(FY2008.3 ended March 31, 2008)

{Millions of yen)

. Asia, Oceania, |
North America Europe and ather areas Total
Overseas sales ¥89,903 ¥104,114 ¥78,121 ¥272,139
Net sales ¥548,754
% of net sales 16.4% 19.0% 14.2% 49.6%
(FY2007.3 ended March 31, 2007} Millions of yen)
. Asta, Oceania,
North America Europe and other areas Total
Overseas sales ¥93,676 ¥97,299 ¥68,157 ¥259,133
Net sales ¥550,361
% of net sales 17.0% 17.7% 124% 47.1%

Note: The classification of countries and regions and the countrie:. and regions that arc included in such classification are the same as for information by geographical

segment.
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Lease Transactions
[Leasing-In Transactions|
1. Finance Lease Transactions Other than Those Which Transfer Ownership of the Leased Assets to the Lessee

(1) Acquisition Costs, Accumulated Depreciation, and Net Balance at Year-End {Millions of yen)
FY2008.) FY2007.3
(As of March 31, 2008} {As of March 31, 2007)
Toaqls, ' Tools,

cquipment, Others Total equipment, Others Total

and fixtuies and fixtres
Acquisition cost ¥1,558 Y144 ¥1,703 ¥1,782 Y467 ¥2.249
Accumulated depreciation 854 81 935 975 261 1,237
Net balance at end of year ¥ 704 ¥ 63 Y 767 ¥ 806 ¥205 ¥1,012

Acquisition cost includes interest expense since the balance of future minimum lease payments accounts for only a small percentage of tangible fixed 2ssets as of the
balance sheet date.

2) Future Minimum Lease Payments (Millions of yen)
FY1008.) FY2007.3
(A3 of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Due within one year ¥371 ¥ 481
Due over one year 396 530
Total ¥767 ¥1,012

Future minimum lease paymenis include injerest expense since th: balance of future minimum lease payments accounts for enly a small percentage of tangible fixed
assets as of the balance sheet date.

(3) Lease Payments and Depreciation {Miltions of yen)
FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{Year ended March 31, 2008} (Year ended March 31, 2007)
Lease payments ¥498 ¥699
Depreciation 498 699

(4) Depreciation of Leased Assels
Assuming that the residual values are nil, depreciation of leased assets is catculated over the relevant lease periods using the

straight-tine method.

2. Operating Lease Transactions

Future Minimum Lease Payments {Millions of yen)
FY1008.3 FY10073
{As of March 31,2008) (As of March 31,2007}
Due within one year ¥ 425 ¥ 491
Due over ane year 707 1,028
Total ¥1,132 ¥1,519
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{L.easing-Out Transactions|

L. Finance Lease Transactions Qther than Those Which Transfer Ownership of the Leased Assets to the Lessee

(1) Acquisition Costs, Accumulated Depreciation, and Net Balance at Year-End

(Millions of yen}

FYi083
{Aa of March 31, 2008)

FY2007.3
(As of March 31, 2007

Tools, equipment, and lixtures

Tools, equipment, and fixiures

Acquisition cost ¥5,060 ¥5,297
Accumulated depreciation 3,673 3,685
Net balance at end of year ¥1,386 ¥E611
2} Future Minimum Lease Payment Receipis {Millions of yen)
FY1003.3 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Due within one year ¥ 714 ¥ 810
Due over one year 1370 1,560
Total ¥2,084 ¥2,371

Futire minimuim lease payments include interest expense since 11e balance of futute minimurm lease payments and estimated residual value accounts for only a small

perceniage of receivable assets as of the balance sheet date.

(3) Lease Payment Receipts and Depreciation

(Millions of yen)

FY2008.3 FY2007 3
{As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007}
Lease payment receipts ¥874 ¥993
Depreciation L1.7) 573
2. Operating Lease Transactions
Future Minimum Lease Pavment Receipts (Millions of yen)
FY20083 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008) (As of March 31, 2007)
Due within one year ¥ 608 ¥ 668
Due over one year 487 681
Total ¥1,096 ¥1,349
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Transactions with Related Parties

I. Directors and Major Individual Shareholders, Etc
FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007—March 31, 2008)

(Millions of yen)

Lines of business c:)‘;:::ﬁ:lp Qutstanding
Retationship Name . . 8 Nature of transactions Amount Item at end of
or occupation rights .
period
{owned)
Chairman and Owned Transactions with Yamaha Music
Director of Yamaha, | directly: Foundation:
President of Yamaha | 0.0% Product sales*’ ¥ 46 | Notes and ¥ 5
Music Foundation Music schoal tuition®' 2 | accaunt
Director Shuji lo Piano tuning/adjustment income®’ 11 | receivable
House rent income® ' 222
Business service income®’ 13 | Notes and 2,209
Teachers” expenses*? 25,681 ;Z;z:r:s
Chrector of Yamaha, | Owned Contribution to membership fee to a1
President of Yamaha | direetly: Yamaha Welfare Foundation*’
Mutual Assisiance 0.0%
Foundation
Director of Yamaha, | Ownzd House rent income from Yamaha 6 | Other current 0
President of Yamaha | directly: Health Insurance Union*' assels
Director Tsunco Kuroe Se?]lh Insurance 0.0% Health tnsurance pre@iuTs to Yamaha 2,109 | Accrued 109
nion Health Insurance Union* expenses and
acerued
payables
Director of Yamaha, | Ownzd House rent income from Yamaha [
President of Yamaha | directly: Corporate Pension Fund*?
Corparate Pension 0.0% Contribution to Yamaha Corporation 2,080
Fund Pension Fund*’
FY2007.3 (April 1, 2006 —March 31, 2007) {Millions of yen)
Lines of business %‘R:ﬁ: Y Outstanding
Relationship Name . young Nature of transactions Amount [tem at end of
or occupation Tizhis .
period
(ovmed)
President and Own:d Transactions with Yamaha Music
Representative ditectly: Foundation:
Dircctor of Yamaha, | 0.0% Product sales*? ¥ 31 | Naotesand ¥ o2
Presidens of Yamaha Musie school tuition®! 3 | accoumt
Director Shuji Ito Musie Foundation Piano tuning/adjustment income ™’ 11 | receivable
House rent income*’ 226
Teachers' expenses*? 25622 | Notes and 2,240
accounts
payable
Director of Yamaha, | Owned Contribution to membesship fec 1o 62
President of Yamaha | direcily: Yamaha Welfare Foundation*?
Mutual Assistance &.0%
Foundation
Durector of Yamaha, | Ownid House rent income from Yamaha 6 | Other current 0
President of Yamaha | direc ly: Health Insurance Union*' asscts
Dircetor Tsuneo Kuroe Hu_:lth [nsurance 40% Healh insurance prc!niums to Yamaha 2,129 | Accrued te
Union Health Insurance Union** expenses and
acerued
payables
Director of Yamaha; | Owned House rent income from Yamaha 1
President of Yameha { direc'ly: Corporate Pension Fund®'
Corporate Pension 0.0% Contribution to Yamaha Corporaticn 2,228
Fund Pension Fund*®

Notes: 1. The above transactions were conducted on behalf of third g arties.
2. The transacticn conditions and method of decision making related to the transacticns sre as follows:

* 1. Decisions are made in the same way as for regutar ransactions.

*2. Decisions are made on a mutual, basic relationship and based on roles in the operation of musical education sysiems.
*3, Contributions are the same as for members based on ths mutua) assistance contract.

*4, The Company pays standard monthly insurance premivms, based on the Yamaha Health [nsurance Union.

*5. The Company pays premiums as detenmined by she Yanaha Corporate Pension Fund.
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Tax-Effect Accounting
1. Principal Deferred Tax Assets and Tax Liabilitics

{Millions of yen}

FY1008.3
{As of March 31, 2008}

FY2007.3
(As of March 31, 2007)

Deferred 1ax assets:

Revaluation lpss on inventories ¥ 1,868 ¥ 2,096
Unrealized gain 4,007 3,894
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,495 899
Depreciation, excess 9,492 11,722
Impairment loss 8,479 17,908
Revaluation loss on investment securities 3,113 2,056
Unpaid bonuses 3,658 3732
Product warranty reserve 1,186 1,349
Accrued employees” retirement benefits 9571 10,130
Net operating loss carried forward 1,540 4,162
Accumulated losses of subsidiaries -_— 347
Other 8,779 10,255
Subtotal 53,191 71,682
Valuation allowance {12,858) {26,121)
Total deferred 12x assets 40,332 45,560
Deferred tax liabilities:
Reserve for advanced depreciation (1,640) (1,853)
Reserve for special depreciation 217) (321)
Appraisal loss for other marketable securities (32,031) (8,136)
Other (742) (997)
Total deferred tax liabilities (34,631) (11,308)
Net deferred 1ax assets ¥ 5701 ¥ 34,252

2. Principal Items Accounting for the Difference between the Statutory Tax Rate
of Tax-Effect Accounting

and the Effective Tax Rate after Application

FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008} (As of March 31, 2007)
Legal effective tax rate 39.5% 95 %
Adjustments:
Equity in earnings of unconsolidaled subsidiaries and affiliates and non-temporary _ (104)%
differences not deductibte for tax purposes
Non-temporary differences nol deductible for tax purposes 0.5)% —_
Per capita inhabitants” taxes t3 % 0.6 %
Deduction for R&D costs (2.0)% 11L.M%
Allowances for changes in valuation (21.2)% 4.0%
Accumulated losses of subsidiaries — {8.0)%
Recognition of equity in camings of affiliated companies 20.0 % —
Adjustment due 1o changes in tax rates of overseas consolidated subsidiaries (0.5)% 03%
Corporate tax rale after adjustments for tax-effect accounting 35.6 % 14.3 %
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Marketable Securities

1. Marketable Securities to Be Held to Maturity at Market Value

{Millions of yen)

FY2008.3 FY2007.3
(A3 of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
Car ying Estimated Unrealized Carrying Estimated Unreatized
velue fair value gain value fair value gain
Securities whose fair value exceeds
their carrying value;
Government bonds ¥ 300 ¥ 300 ¥0 ¥ 100 ¥ 100 ¥0
Corporate bonds — — — — — —
Others 299 300 0 299 300
Subtotal 600 601 1 399 400
Securities whose carrying value exceeds
Lheir fair value;
Government bonds 399 398 (n 500 495 (4)
Corporate bonds 399 398 (48] 419 416 3)
Others 699 698 [1)] 1,099 1,093 (6)
Subtotal 1.499 1,496 3} 2,019 2,004 {15)
Total ¥2.099 ¥2,097 ¥(2) ¥2.419 ¥2,404 ¥(15)
2. Other Marketable Securitles at Market Value {Millions of yen
FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008) (As of March 31, 2007)
Acquisition Carrying Unrealized Acquisition Carrying Unrealized
©3st value gain cost value gain
Securities whose carrying value exceeds
their acquisition cost:
Stocks ¥16.491 ¥97,568 ¥81,076 ¥9,175 ¥29,790 ¥20.614
Cthers — — — 65 78 12
Subtotal 16 4%1 91,568 81,076 9,240 29,868 20,627
Securities whose acquisition cost exceeds
their carrying value:
Stocks 689 628 {61) 688 632 (56)
Others 68 57 [(i0] — — —
Subtotal 787 685 (7% 688 632 (56)
Total ¥17,248 ¥98,253 ¥81,004 ¥9,929 ¥30,500 ¥20,570

Note: The item “Stocks™ under “Securities whose carrying value excecds their acquisition cost™ includes shares of Yamaha Motor Co., Lid., which was accounted for
under the equity method shrough the end of the previous fiscal year.

3. Other Securities Sold during the Fiscal Year

{Millions of yen}

(Year ended March 31, 2008)

FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{Year ended March 31, 2008) {Ycar ended March 31, 2007)
Sales value ¥805 ¥4
Profit on sales 763 3
Loss on sales —_ —
4. Book Value of Securities without Market Value (Miltions of yen)
FY2008.3 FY2007.3

(Year ended March 31, 2007}

Other securities;

Unlisted securities

Negotiable deposits

¥ 7,600
30,400

¥7.010
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5. Scheduled Redemption Value of Other Securities with Maturity Dates and to Be Held to Maturity Securities

(Milligns of yen

FY20085
{As of March 31, 2008}

FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2007)

Between one and

Between five and

Between one and

Between five and

Within ene year five years ton years Overten years | Within one year five years ten years Over ten years
Bonds:
Government
bonds Y300 ¥ 399 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 600 ¥— ¥—
Corporate
bonds - 399 - — 20 399 — —
Others 499 499 —_ — 399 999 — —
Total ¥800 ¥1,299 ¥ ¥— ¥419 ¥1,999 ¥ ¥—

Notes: 1, During the fiscal year under review, the value of stocks of other marketable securities al market value in the “Others™ category was reduced ¥203 million due
1o impairment. The impairment loss in such securitizs is recognized when market value at the pericd-end declines 30% or more from the carrying

(acquisition) cost, except when it is anticipated thal the market value is recoverable based on trends in market value

financial condition.
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Derivatives Transactions

1. Items Related to the Status of Derivative Transcctions

(1) Description of Financial Derivatives and Objectives in Their Usage

The Company makes use of forward foreign exchange contracts (including package transactions) and currency options (Toreign
currency put and yen currency call options}) to reduce risks related to currency exchange fluctuations that may be incwrred by the
Yamaha Group in its export and import transactions, Please note that the Company makes use of such derivative transactions and
has adopted hedge accounting principles.

(a) Method of Hedge Accounting
Translation differences arising from forward forzign exchange contracts with respect to receivables and payables denominated
in foreign currencies are accounted for using the allocation methed. Anticipated transactions denominated in foreign
currencies designated as hedging instruments are: accounted for using deferral hedge accounting.

(b) Hedging Instruments and Hedged liems
Hedging instruments: Forward foreign exchange contracts, purchased foreign currency-denominated put and yen-dominated
call option contracts
Hedged items; Receivables and payables dencminated in foreign currencies and anticipated transactions denominated in
foreign currencies

{c) Hedging Policy
The Company and consolidated subsidiaries enter into forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options as hedging
instruments within the limit of actual foreign transactions to reduce risk arising from future fluctuations of foreign exchange
rates with respect 1o export and import transactions in accordance with the internal management rules of each company.

(d) Assessment of Effectiveness for Hedging Activities
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries do not make an assessment of effectiveness for hedging activities because the
anticipated cash flows fixed by hedging activitics and avoidance of market risk are clear; therefore, there is no need to
evaluate such effectiveness.

(2) Policy for Derivative Transactions

The Company policy regarding derivatives related to foreign exchange transactions is to limit usage (o those derivative
transactions that are nceded for the Company’s business purposes and not to engage in such transactions for speculative or
trading purposes.

(3) Risk Inherent in Derivative Transactions

Foreign exchange forward contracts used in foreign exchange transactions have inherent risk due to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rales, Foreign currency option transactions are limited to “foreign currency put options and yen call options™ and, aside
from the cost of such options, there is no risk from 1Tuctuations in foreign exchange rates.

{4) Risk Management System for Derivative Transactions

In conducting derivative transactions based on the policy stated in 2} sbove, Yamaha Corporation and its subsidiaries hold
discussions, establish internal rules and regulations for the management of derivatives, and then conduct and manage such
transactions based on the established rules and regulations,

Derivative transactions of the Yamaha Corporation and its subsidiaries are concentrated in the respective accounting and finance
depariments of these companies. Internal sules and regulations stipulate the roles of the respective accounting and finance
departments, reports to be submitted to top management, and communications 1o be sent to related departments {including
position limits, etc.}.

Reports are submitted to top management each time a derivative (ransaction is conducted and on a monthly basis 1o inform
management about the balance of derivative transactions and provide quantitative information on trends in foreign exchange and
other related matters.

2. Market Value of Derivatives

Because hedge accounting is approptiately applicd to all derivative transactions except those allocated to foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities, the market value of derivatives is not shown.
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Accounting for Retirement Allowances
I. Overview of Retirement Benefits

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit plans, such as welfare pension plans {thc Company
and one domestic consolidated subsidiary), approved retirement annuity systems (four domestic conselidated subsidiaries), and

lump-sum payment plans.

In certain cases, the Company pays employees who are retiring, etc., additional retirement benefits that are not considered to be
retirement benefit obligations as catculated under actuarial methods according to retirement benefit accounting principles.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries overseas have eithzr defined benefit plans or defined contribution plans.

2. Retirement Benefit Liabilities

{Mallions of yen)

FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)
1. Pension benefit liabilities ¥(150,685) ¥(162,791)
2. Pension plan assets 102,705 122,430
3. Unfunded retirement benefit liabilities (1}+(2) (47,980) (40,360)
4. Unrecognized actuarial differences 25,783 12,663
5. Unrecognized liabilities for past service {increase in Jiabilities) (2,601} 1,458
6. Net amount on consolidated balance sheets (3)+(4)+(5) (24,798) (26,238)
7. Prepaid pension expenses 512 902
8. Reserve for retirement benefits (6)~(7) ¥ (25,311) ¥(27,140)
3. Retirement Benefits {Millions of yen)
FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{Ended March 31,2008) | (Ended March 31, 2007)
Service cost ¥5318 ¥5,535
Interest cost 1,997 3,134
Expected return on plan assets (4,696) (4,696)
Amortization of past service cost (157) 264
Amertization of actuarial gain/loss 3,18 3,088
Additional retirement benefit expenses 1,407 3,551
Total ¥ 8,089 ViC,876
4. Assumptions and Policies Adopted in the Calculation of Retirement Benefit Obligations
FY20083 FY2007.3
{As of March 31, 2008) {As of March 31, 2007)

Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%
Expected rate of retumn oo plan assets 4.0% 4.0%

Attribution method of retirement benefits to the period

Straight-line method
for years of service

Straight-line method
for years of service

Ameortization of past service costs

10 years
(straight-line method)

10 years
{straight-tine method)

Amortization of actuarial gain/loss

10 years
(straight-line method)

10 yeurs
(straight-ling method)

Amortization of net retirement obligation al transition

Fully recognized as other
expense when incurred

Fully recognized as other
expense when incurred
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Per Share Information

(Yen)
FY2008,3 FY2007.3
(Ended March 31, 2008) (Ended March 31, 2007)
Net assets per share ¥1,646.44 ¥1,680.91
Net income per share 191.76 135.19
Net income per share after adjustment for latent stock —_ 135.11
Basis for Calculations of Net Income per Share and Net Income per Share afier Adjustment for Latent Stock
FY2008.3 FY2007.3
{Ended March 31, 2008) (Ended March 31, 2007)
Wet income per share
Net income ¥39,558 million ¥27.866 million
Value not attributed to common stock — million — million
Net income attributed to commeon stock 35,558 million 27,866 million
Average number of outstanding shares
during the period 206,295 thousand shares 206,126 thousand shares
Net income per share after adjustment for latent stock
Net income adjustment value ¥— million ¥17) millicn
Portion of interest on investments accounted for
by equity method — million (17) miilion
Increase in number of outstanding shares — thousand shares — thousand shares
Per share value after adjustment for latent shares,
due 1o lack of dilution effect
(Latent shares not included in calculations of
niet income per share}) — —

Important Subsequent Events

The Company’s Board of Directors, at its meeting held on April 30, 2008, decided the necessary matters o conduct an

acquisition of its own shares under Article 156 of the Corporation Law of Japan, as applied pursuant 1o
Corporation Law as follows.
(1) Reason for the share acquisition
The acquisition of the shares will be conducted as part of measures to enhance the return to shareh
shares accompanying the sale of a portion of the Company’s heldings in Yamaha Motor Co., Lid,,
May 2007.
(2) Details of the acquisition
(a) Class of shares 1o be purchased; The Company's common shares
(b) Total number of shares to be acquired: 10 million {upper limit}
This represents 4.8% of total shares issued and outstanding, excluding treasury stock.
(<) Total amount of shares to be acquired: ¥18.(t billion (upper limit)
(d) Period for the share acquisition: May 1, 2008, to September 30, 2008
(3) Other matters
All of the shares acquired wil! be cancelled.

For Reference: Company holdings of own shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2008

Total shares issucd and outstanding 1excluding treasury stock): 206,290,045 shares
Treasury stock held: 234,581 shares
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5, Non-Consolidated Financial Statemenis

(1) Non-Consolidated Balance Sheets

Millions of yen

FY2008.3 FY2007.3 Increase
(As of Mar. 31,2008) (As of Mar. 31, 2007) (decrease)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and bank deposits ¥ 38,754 ¥ 12,503 ¥26,25)
Notes receivable 3,242 6,371 (3.129)
Accounts receivable 26,244 30,994 (4,750)
Marketable securities 30,400 — 30,400
Products and goods 15,320 16,517 (1,197
Raw materials 2,249 2,253 )
Products in progress 6,578 8,018 (1,440)
Advances 166 78 88
Deferred income taxes 11,490 11,965 (475)
Short-term loans 5,928 — 5,928
Other current assets 3,118 5,765 {2,650)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,457} (2,7111) 254
Total current assets T 141,034 91,756 49278
Fixed assets:
Tangible assets:
Buildings 18,949 20,626 (1.677)
Structures 2,460 3,354 (894)
Machinery and equipment 5,877 6,987 (1,110)
Vehicles 37 104 (67}
Tools, furniture and fixtures 3,307 4,256 (949)
Land 51,280 50,604 676
Construction in progress 3,119 590 2,529
Total tangible assets 85,033 86,524 (1,491)
Intangible assets:
Rights on leasehold land 75 99 {24)
Total intangible assets 75 99 {24)
Investments and other assets:
Investment securities 105,083 37475 67,608
Shares of affiliated companies 51,668 57,768 (6,100}
[nvestment in capitat 0 0 —
Affiliated company investments 22,504 18,396 4,108
Long-term loans 207 468 {261)
Long-term employee loans —_ 0 (0}
Long-term affiliated company loans 36 49 (LK)}
Bankrupt, rehabilitating securities 258 340 {82)
Long-term accrued expenses — 7 ()
Deferred income taxes — 14,265 (14,265)
Guarantee deposits for leased real estate 2,291 2,370 {79
Other assets 487 446 41
Allowance for doubtful accounts (855) (967) 112
Reserve for loss on investments (86) — (86)
Total investments and other assets 181,596 130,621 50,975
Total fixed assets 266,704 217,246 49458
Total assets ¥407,739 ¥309,002 ¥ 98,737
Note. Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omined.
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Millions of yen

FY10038.3 FY2007.3 Increase
{As of Mar. 31,2008) {As of Mar, 31, 2007} {decrease)
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Notes payable ¥ - ¥ 167 ¥ (l67)
Accounts payable 18,215 21,320 (3,105)
Short-term loans 5214 3,648 1,566
Accrued payables 4,403 15,090 (10,687)
Accrued expenses 18,041 18,189 (148)
Corporate tax payables 12,484 3,607 8,877
Advances received 170 258 (88)
Deposit received 745 972 (227)
Reserve for directors” bonuses 120 100 20
Product warranty reserve 1,713 1,953 (240)
Reserve for subsidiary support 104 206 {102}
Other current liabilities — 20 (Pl0)]
Total current tiabilities 61,212 65,538 (4,326)
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 14,117 —_ 14,117
Defemred income taxes on land revaluation 15,200 15,200 —
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits 21,071 22,154 {1,083)
Long-term deposits received 17,098 17,482 (384}
Other long-term liabilities 1,144 1,360 (216)
Total long-ferm liabilities 68,631 56,197 12,434
Total liabilities 129,844 121,736 8,108
NET ASSETS
Sharchelders’ equity:
Common stock 28,534 28,534 —
Capital surplus
Capital reserve 40,054 40,054 —
Total capital surplus 40,054 40,054 —
Eamed surplus:
Retained eamings 1,159 4,159 —_
Other retained eamings —
Reserve for special depreciation 7 9 )
Reserve for advanced depreciation 1,582 2,862 (280)
General reserve 79,710 74710 5,000
Retained earnings carried forward 61,908 14475 47433
Total retained eamings 148,367 96,216 52,151
Treasury stock, at cost {326) {296) (30)
Total shareholders’ equity 116,630 164,509 52,121
Yaluation and transiation adjustments
Net unrealized holding gain en other securities 48,583 12,427 36,156
Gain (loss) on deferred hedges 201 (12) 213
Land revaluation difference 12,479 10,341 2,138
Total valuation and translation adjustments 61,264 22,756 38,508
Tolal net assets 277,894 187,266 90,628
Total liabilities and net assets ¥407,7139 ¥309.002 ¥ 98,737

Note: Figures of less than ¥t million have been omitted.
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(2) Non-Consolidated Statements of Operations

FY1008.3

(Apr. 1, 2007-Mar. 31, 2008)

FY2007.3

(Apr. 1,2006-Mar. 31, 2007)

Increase

(decrease)

Millions of yen % Milliens of yen % Millions of yen
Net sales:
Merchandise and product sales ¥274,904 ¥279918 ¥(5,014)
Other 40,741 43,124 (2,383)
Total net sales 315,645 100.0 323,043 100.0 (7,398}
Cost of sales:
Merchandise and product cost of sales:
Inventory of merchandise and products at beginning of period 16,517 15,958 559
Reversal of valuation loss on raw maierials and
work in progress brought forward 224 262 (38)
Cost of production 200,681 207,769 {7,088)
Merchandise procured 4,791 5,728 (937}
Decline due to company split-off 538 — 538
Valuation loss on raw materials and work in progress 114 224 (110)
Inventory of merchandise and producis at end of peried 15,320 16,517 {1,197}
Subtotal 206,021 212,900 {6.879)
Other 31,355 31,693 {338)
Total cost of sales 237376 75.2 244,594 75.7 (1.21%)
Gross profit 78,269 24.8 78,449 243 {180)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 65,924 209 65,890 204 34
Operating income 12,344 39 12,558 39 {214)
Non-operating income:
Interest received 412 84 328
Dividends received 5,107 6,456 (1,349)
Foreign exchange gain 524 388 136
Compensation for suspension of production —_ 820 (820)
Other 230 247 an
Total non-operating income 6,275 2.0 7,996 24 (1,721)
Non-operating expenses:
Interest paid 34 15 19
Cash discounts 18 17 1
Other 626 661 35
Total non-operating expenses 679 0.2 694 0.2 (15)
Recurring profit ¥ 17,941 5.7 ¥ 10,850 6.1 ¥(1.919)

Nate: Figures of less than ¥ i million have been omitied.
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(2) Non-Consolidated Statements of Operations (Continued from the previous page)

FY20083 FY2007.3 ncrease
(Apr. 1, 2007-Mar. 31, 2008) (Apr. 1, 2006-Mar. 31, 2007) (decrease)
Millions of yen % Miltions of yen Y Millions of yen
Extraordinary income:
Gain on sale of fixed assets ¥ 1,566 ¥ 167 ¥ 1,399
Reversal of product warranty reserve 147 129 18
Reversal of altowance for doubtful accounts 183 226 43)
Gain on sale of investment securities 758 0 758
Gain on sale of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates 61,066 — 61,066
Gain on sale of equity investments in subsidiaries 18 — 18
Reversal of reserve for assistance to subsidiaries 8 — 8
Total extraordinary income 63,749 20,2 524 0.2 63,225
Extracrdinary loss:
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 353 723 (370
Loss on revaluation of invesimeni securities 263 14 249
Loss on revaluation of stocks in subsidiaries 454 385 69
Loss on revaluation of equity investments in subsidiaries 66 —_ 66
Reverse of reserve for investment losses 86 — 86
Special retirement payment 595 — 595
Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts — 1,906 (1,906)
Reversal of reserve for subsidiary support — 102 (102)
Impairment losses — 4,728 (4,728)
Tolal extraordinary loss 1,820 0.6 7,861 24 (6,041)
Income before income taxes and minority interests 79,870 253 12,523 39 67,347
Current income taxes 13,115 4.1 3,267 1.0 9,848
Deferred income taxes 4,730 1.5 (2.054) (0.6) 6.784
Netincome ¥ 62024 19.7 ¥11310 35 ¥50,714

Note: Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omitted.
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(3) Non-Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

FY2008.3 (April 1, 2007—March 31, 2008) {Millions of yen)
Sharcholders” Equity
Capital surplus Retained earnings
Otber retained i
o — " er r:fmn carmings — o ‘:‘tr;:::u;)lr Total share-
Copital  [Toul capital] Earned special £3erve O General ctaine ot ; holders’
stock reserve sarplus Teserve depreci- advanced Testrve cornings retained cost cquity
i Pi o depreci- carried carnings
oo aticn forward
Balauce at March 31, 2007 ¥28,534 ¥40,054 ¥10,054 ¥4,159 ¥9 ¥2.862 ¥74,710 ¥14,475 ¥ 96,216 ¥296) | ¥164,509
Changes during the period
Dividends from surplug {7,736) (7.730) {7,736)
Net income for the period 62,024 £2,024 61,024
Reversal of reserve for Jand
revatuation difference 2,137) (2,137) (2.137)
Reversal of sexcrve for special 1 1
depreciation 8 - -
Provision to reserve for advanced
depreciation 13 {13) — —
Reversal of ¢ for ahvanced
o e (193) 193 — —_
Provision to generad resenve 5,000 {5,000} — —
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost (29) {29)
Changes, net, in items other than
sharchoidens” equity
Totat changes during the period — - - — n (280} 5,000 47,432 52,150 29 52,120
Balanee at Mavch 31, 2008 V28,531 | V40,054 | %10,084 ¥4,159 V7 ¥2582 | ¥79,710 | ¥61,908 | ¥148,367 ¥(326) | ¥216,630
{Milhons of yen)
Valuation and Translation Adjustments
Valuation . . Total valuatien and Total Net
. Gain (loss} on Land revaluation X
difference on other . translation Asscls
P defersed hedges difference .
securities ad)
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥12,427 ¥(h2) ¥10,341 ¥22,756 ¥187,266
Change during the period
Dividends from surplus (7,736)
Net income for the period 62,024
Reversat of reserve for land revaluation difference (2,137}
Reversal of reserve for special depreciation —
Provision 10 reserve for advanced depreciation -
Reversal of reserve for advanced depreciation —_
Provisicn to general reserve —
Purchase of freasury stock, a1 ¢cost (29}
Changes, net, in items other than shareholders” equity 36,155 214 2,137 38,507 38,507
Total changes during the period 36,155 214 2,137 38,507 90,628
Balance at March 31, 2008 ¥45,583 ¥201 ¥12,479 ¥61,264 ¥277,894

Note. Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omitted.
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FY2007.3 (April 1, 2006—March 31, 2007)

(Millions of yen}

Sharchelders' Equity
Capital surplus Retained camings
Other retained eamings
Special B Treasury Toal
Common . Tinal Reserve |, cerve for | reserve for Retained Tota! stock, a1 | share-
Capital - Earned  ffor special General | earnings | retained holders’
stock caital | sdvanced | replace- : : cost olders
feserve suiplus reserve | depreci- depreci- | mentof feserve caseied carhings equity
ation P! forward
ahon asset
acquisition
Balance at March 31, 2006 ¥28,534 ¥40,054 ¥40,054 ¥4,159 ¥l ¥2334 | ¥ 563 ¥63,710 ¥13,258 ¥89,038 ¥(258) {¥157.368
Changes during the period
Dividends from surplus (4,126) (4,126} (4,126)
Net income for the period 11,310 11,310 11,310
Reversal of reserve far land -
revaluation difference 7 i3 IS
Pravisicn w reserve for special | n _ _
depreciation
Reversal of reserve for gpecial 3 3 — —
depreciation )
Provisien W rescrve for advanced
depreeintion 900 (500) - -
Reversal of reserve for sdvanced
depreciation (3712) 372 — -
Provision o special reserve for
replacement of asset acquisition 398 (599) - -
Reversal of special mserve for
replacement of ateet sequisition (1.164) 1164 - -
Provision lo gencral reserve 6,000 (6,000) -— —
Bonuses ka dirceiors {80) (80} (80)
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost (37 (37
Changes, hey, i itetns other than
shareholders’ equity
Total changes during the period — —_ — — 2) 528 (565) 6,000 1217 7.178 (37 7,140
|Balante a1 March 31, 2007 ¥28,534 ¥40,054 ¥4(,054 ¥4,159 ¥9 ¥2.862 | ¥ —_ ¥14.710 ¥14,475 ¥96,216 ¥(296) |¥164,509
(Millions of yen)
Valuation and Translation Adjustments
Valuation Gain (loss) on | Land revaluation Total veluation and Total Ne1
i i Asset
dlffcr:ncc‘oln other deferred hedges difference tr_aasla:lon ssets
securities adjusiments
Balance at March 31, 2006 ¥14,263 ¥— ¥10,415 ¥24,679 ¥162,048
Change during the period
Dividends frem surplus (4,126}
Net income for the period 11,310
Reversat of reserve for land revaluation difference 3
Provision to reserve for special depreciation —
Reversal of reserve for special depreciation —
Pravision 1o reserve for advanced depreciation -
Reversal of reserve for advanced depreciation —_
Provision o special reserve for replacement of asset acquisition -
Reversal of special reserve for replacement of asset acquisition -
Pravision to general reserve —
Bonuses io directors {80)
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost an
Changes, net, in items ather than shareholders’ equity (1,836) (12) (73) (1,922) (1,922)
Total changes during the period (1,836) (12} (73} 1,922) 5.218
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥12,427 ¥(12) ¥10,34] ¥22,7156 ¥187,266

Note: Figures of less than ¥1 million have been omitted.

6. Other

{1) Management Appointment and Resignations

See attachment
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The status of corporate governance in Yamaha Corporation (“the Company”) is as follows:

Fundamental Concept of Corporate Governance and Basic Information on Capital
Structure, Corporate Attributes, and Other Matters

1. Fundamental concept

The Company positions the enhancement of corporate governance as an important issue of
business operations and is striving to enhance corporate governance in a proactive manner.

In accordance with its management policy of “Growing as a company that keeps on creating new
Kando (simultaneous feelings of deep satisfaction and intense excitement} and enriched culture
together with people of the world through technology and artistry cultivated on the basis of sound
and music,” the Company will strive to improve the effectiveness of its management, attain high
global competitiveness and profitability, and increase its corporate value and brand value by
fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in areas such as compliance, environment, safety, and
contribution to regional society.

In order to be such a corporatior, the Company aims to manage its businesses with high
transparency and quality and to pursue high operational efficiency by improving its business
structures and systems, by implementing all necessary measures, and by disclosing information in

a timely manner.

The Company adopts a Corporate Auditor system and is working to strengthen its corporate
governance function by introducing an Executive Officer system, establishing a Company-wide
Govemnance Committee, upgrading its internal auditing system, etc. Through these works, coupled
with daily operation audits under the full-time system by the Corporate Auditors, the Company is

enhancing the effectiveness of its governance.

In conducting its business, the Company endeavors to consider the balance of interests among its
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respective stakeholders—shareholders, customers, employees, and local society. The Company
declares its commitments to each of the stakeholders in its Corporate Philosophy as set forth
below and is aiming to fulfill those commitments. The Company works to maximize corporate
value by maintaining the balance of interests among its stakeholders and enhancing the

satisfaction of all stakeholders equitably.

Commitment to Customers: Yamaha will fully satisfy the customer, by offering high quality
products and services, which use new and traditional technologies, as well as creativity and artistry,
and continue to be a known, trusted and loved brand.

Commitment to Shareholders: Yamaha will increase the satisfaction and understanding of its
shareholders by striving for healthy profits and returns, and by achieving productivity, using high

quality, transparent management, and practicing disclosure.

Commitment to those who work with Yamaha: The Yamaha brand is burnished and the Yamaha
value is created by all of the people in working relationships with Yamaha. Yamaha will develop
relationships of mutual trust with all of those who work with Yamaha, in accordance with fair
rules based on social norms, and strive to be an organization in which individuals can demonstrate

their abilities fully, have confidence, and have pride.
Commitment to Society: Yamaha will give first priority to safety and the environment. As a good
corporate citizen, Yamaha will contribute to the development of culture and economy both for

local and global society, through the observance of laws with ethics.

2. Capital structure

l—;ercentage of shares owned by forefgn shareholders More than 20%, Less than 30%
[Major shareholders])
Nam Number of shares Ratio to total (%0)
ame : held (shares) i
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust a/c) 14,693,000 7.11
Yamaha Motor Co., Ltd. 10,216,140 495 |
JP Morgan Chase Bank 9,809,600 4.75 ]
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State Street Bank and Trust Company 9,152,147 443
Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Co., Ltd. 8,918,925 4.32_

' Mizuho Bank, Ltd. T T 8779.9% 425
Epan Tr;stee Service Bank, Ltd:Etrust a’c) S I - 8,528,500 413
The Shizuoka Bank, Limited 8,349,855 4.04
Sumitomo Life Insurance Company 7,300,000 3.53 |
Deutsche Securities Inc. ; 6,722.360 325 |

3. Corporate attributes

Stock exchange listings Ai Tokyo, First section
o

Business year end March 31 every year

—_— e —_—

Category of business Other products

S N

T Tt - b

Number of employees (consolidated) | More than 1,000 persons

- —

Net sales (consolidated) ‘ More than ¥100 billion and less than ¥1,000 billion
Parent company None
Number of consolidated subsidiaries More than 50 and less than 100 companies

L - |

4. Other special conditions which may have material effects on corporate governance
None
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Organization of Management for Operational Decision-making, Execution and
Supervision, and Other Corporate Governance Structures

1. Matters related to the structure, operation, etc. of the organization
- — =
Form of the organization The Company adopts the Corporate Auditor system.

[Matters related to the Directors]

Chairman of the Board of Directors President

|
|

Number of Directors | 8 persons

e e ———— e

Are Any Outside Directors in Office? | Yes
L |
[ | I

Number of Qutside Directors ‘ 1 person

Relations with the Company (1)
Name Attribute Relations with the Company (*1) ]\
. T : 1
} HEN ble|die | fipg|h]
Toru Hasegawa He is from a company other l @) .
than this Company. ; ! i

*1 With respect to the relations with the Company, applicable item(s} are markedig‘ré” in
accordance with the descriptions below.
a: He is from the Parent Company,
b: He is from another Affiliated Company.
¢: He is a major shareholder cf the Company.
d: He concurrently serves as the outside director or outside auditor of another company.
e: He is posted as a business execution director, executive officer, or similar officer in
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another company.

f: He is related to a business execution director, executive officer, etc. of the Company or a

business entity with special relations with the Company, cither as a spouse, as a relative

within the third degree, or through some similar relation.

g: He is paid a remuneration or other proprictary benefit as an officer by the Parent
Company of the Company or by a Subsidiary Company of the Parent Company of the

Company.

h: He has entered into an Agreement on Limitations of Liability with the Company.

i: Other relations

Relations with the Company (2)

Name Supplementary e:;planation
on the applicabl item(s)

Reason for being elected as |
Qutside Director

Toru Hasegawa | None

i[ (l; He is a person of desirable character and l
has considerable insight as a director.

(2) He is knowledgeable about the business in }

| which the Company is engaged. .

i (3) He has ample experience in running |

businesses in other industries. !

- R

Matters related to other major activities of the Qutside Director

He attends the regular Board of Directors’ Meeting (held monthly in principle) and the

extraordinary Board of Directors’ Meeting.

[Matters related to the Corporate Auditors]

Is the Board of Auditors Established?

Yes

-
i

Number of Corporate Auditors

4 persons
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Collaborations between the Corporate Auditors and the Accounting Auditor

In order to ensure the integrity and accuracy of accounting audits, the Corporate Auditors
receive periodic reports on the progress of auditing financial statements from the Accounting
Auditor. The Corporate Auditors and the Accounting Auditor also hold regular meetings to share

views on audit plans and audit results.

Collaborations between the Corporate Auditors and the Internal Audit Control Office

At the monthly Board of Auditors’ Meetings, the Corporate Auditors hear the status of internal
audits from the head of the Interrial Audit Control Office and exchange views on the internal

audits with the Division.

Are Any Outside Auditors in Office? Yes

Number of Outside Auditors 2 persons

Relations with the Company (1)

Name Attribute | r Relations with the Company (*1) —ﬂ
a b c d e f g h i
Kunio Miura Attorney at law O
Yasuharu Terai | He is from a company O
other than this !
Company. |

*1 With respect to the relations with the Company, applicable item(s) are marked “O” in
accordance with the descriptions below.
a: He is from the Parent Company.
b: He is from another Affiliated Company.
¢: He is a major shareholder of the Company.
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: He concurrently serves as an outside director or outside auditor of another company.

He is posted as a business execution director, executive officer, or similar officer in
another company.

He is related to a business execution director, executive officer, etc. of the Company or a
business entity with special relations with the Company, either as a spouse, as a relative

within the third degree, or through some similar relation.

: He is paid a remuneration or other proprictary benefit as an officer by the Parent

Company of the Company or by a Subsidiary Company of the Parent Company of the
Company.

: He has entered into an Agreement on Limitations of Liability with the Company.

Other relations

Relations with the Company (2)

!

Supplementary' explanation Reason for being elected as
on the applicable item(s) Outside Auditor |
Kunio Miura None (1) He is a person of desirable character and h

has considerable insight as a corporate!
J

auditor, i
(2) He is an attorney at law and is acquainted '

with laws and regulations. i
(3) He can be expected to audit from an |

objective viewpoint.

|
|
|

Yasuharu Terai | None (1) He is a person of desirable character and

has considerable insight as a corporate
auditor,

(2) He has ample experience in running !

businesses in other industries. |

I:rMatters related to other major activities of the Outside Auditors

The Outside Auditors attend the regular Board of Directors” Meeting (held monthly in principle),
the extraordinary Board of Directors’ Meeting, the regular Board of Auditors’ Meeting (held
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monthly in principle), and the extraordinary Board of Auditors’ Meeting. They also inspect
material documents for final decisions, attend important meetings and, when necessary,
investigate major divisions and domestic and overseas subsidiaries.

They also offer advice and proposals from time to time based on their objective and neutral

standpoints, taking advantage of their expertise.

[Matters related to incentives]

Implementation of measures to grant Introduction of a  results-connected
incentives to the Directors remuneration system

|

|_| Supplementary explanation on related matters

The Company pays remunerations calculated in conjunction with the results of net sales and

operating income and, in addition, in consideration of the contributions of each Director.

[Matters related to remunerations for Directors]

Means of disclosure | Annual Security Report (Financial Report pursuant to the Securities &

Exchang: Law), and other means

Scope of disclosure Aggregale amounts paid to Inside Directors and Qutside Directors
respectively

Supplementary explanation on related matters

Amounts of remunerations, etc. paid to Directors and Corporate Auditors for the 183rd Fiscal

Year

Directors: 8 persons ¥411 million (including Outside Directors: | person, ¥4
million)

Corporate Auditors: 4 persons  ¥83 million (including Outside Corporate Auditors: 2
persons, ¥ 9 million)

Notes: 1. Amounts of remunerations include bonuses of ¥100 million in the aggregate: ¥85

million for Directors (including ¥1 miilion for an Outside Director) and ¥15 million
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for Corporate Auditors (including ¥2 million for Outside Corporate Auditors) for the
current fiscal year.

2. It was resolved, at the 182nd Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on June
27, 2006, that the Company was to make a lump-sum payment of the retirement
allowance to Directors and Corporate Auditors upon the abolition of the retirement
allowance system. In addition to the amounts of the above remunerations, etc., an
aggregate amount of ¥58 million was paid as retirement allowance under this
resolution to two (2) Directors and one (1) Corporate Auditor who retired from office
upon the conclusion of the 182nd Ordinary General Shareholders” Meeting. An
aggregate amount of ¥157 million will also be paid as retirement allowance to one (1)
Director and one (1) Corporate Auditor who retired from office upon the conclusion
of the 183rd Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting. In addition, those payments
were calculated based upon the term of office served by each Director and Corporate
Auditor as of the end of June 2006.

[Support system for Outside Director (Outside Auditors)]

When a proposal is to be submitted to the Board of Directors’ Meeting or the Board of Auditors’
Meeting to be attended by an Qutside Auditor, the staff member working for the Corporate
Auditors sends documents and other materials related to the proposal prior to the meeting,
provide explanations on the proposal if necessary, and facilitate the Auditor’s work to perform a
complete preliminary study. With respect to other material matters, the Company also strives at
all times to maintain an efficient auditing environment by providing information, supplying
materials, hearing opinions, supporting investigations, collecting information, etc.

Matters to be reported or resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting are explained to the
Outside Director each time, when necessary.

2. Matters related to functions of business execution, audit and supervision,
nomination, determination of remuneration, etc.

(Board of Directors)

The number of Directors of the Company is eight (8) as of June 26, 2007 (one (1) of them is an
Outside Director). The Board Meeting held monthly (in principle) is responsible for group-wide
management functions, including, strategy planning, the meonitoring of the execution of
departmental business, and guidance of the corporate group therefor. To define the management
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responsibility of the Directors, the term of office of each Director is determined to be one (1)
year.

{Representative Director and Senior Director)

The number of Representative Drirectors of the Company is one (1) as of June 26, 2007
(President & Representative Director). The President & Representative Director is the chief
executive for all businesses of the Company and represents the Company. There is also one (1)
Senior Director, who occupies the position of Chairman & Director as of the same date.

(Corporate Auditor and Board of Auditors)

The number of Corporate Auditors. of the Company is four (4) as of June 26, 2007 (two (2) of
them are Qutside Auditors). In addition to holding the Board of Auditors® Meeting once a month
in principle, they conduct periodic and comprehensive audits in each division and group
company in accordance with their own plans. Further, they attend the Board of Directors’
Meeting and other important meetings, including the Management Meeting. With respect to the
accounting audit, they endeavor to ensure the integrity and accuracy of accounting audit by
periodically receiving reports on the progress of the auditing of the financial statements from the
Accounting Auditor. In order to improve the auditing environment, the Company has established
a Corporate Auditors Office staffed by employees working for the Corporate Auditors (staffed
by one (1) personnel as of June 26, 2007).

(Management Meeting)

The Company holds the Managernent Meeting twice a month as a rule in order to discuss
company-wide management issues arising from time to time and unify the views thereof as a
company. Full-time Directors and the Chairman of the Board of Auditors attend the

Management Meeting.

(Executive Officer)

The Company adopts the executive officer system in order to enhance management functions as
a consolidated group and to strengthen its business execution function. Sixteen {16) Executive
Officers (including one (1) Senior Managing Executive Officer and two (2) Managing Executive
Officers) assumed office as of June: 26, 2007 in order to support the President, who is the chief
executive for all businesses. In consideration of the importance of their responsibilities, in

principle, Executive Officers who double as Directors are Group Managers of Business
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Divisions and/or Staff Divisions. Each Executive Officer is responsible for the business results
of the Group under his or her supervision and issues appropriate commands and orders to enable
his or her Group to fulfill its functions to the fullest possible extent. Each Executive Officer is
assigned to the Division(s) in charge of major management issues within a Group of Business

Divisions and/or Staff Divisions under Group Managers.

(Company-wide Governance Committee and Company-wide Committee)

The Company has established a “Company-wide Governance Committee” consisting of three
(3) committees: a Compliance Committee, CSR Committee, and Officers Personnel Affairs
Committee. The Compliance Coramittee promotes company-wide cross-sectional activities to
pursue the corporate social responsibility and the business operations in which legal and
regulatory compliance is stressed. The CSR Committee conducts activities to encourage
voluntary contribution to society by developing and applying various independently established
Company standards which go beyond applicable laws and regulations. The Officers Personnel
Affairs Committee increases transparency and fairness in the selection of candidates to become
Directors, Corporate Auditors, and Executive Officers by nominating the candidates through
discussions at the Committee. This Committee also reviews human resource development
programs for future candidates and the remuneration system for officers. A variety of
Company-wide Committees are established in order to marshal group-wide responses to any
significant risk likely to arise in the course of the execution of business. In principle, the
President, Senior Managing Executive Officer, or Managing Executive Officer assumes

chairmanship of the Company-wide Committees.

({Internal Audit)

The Company has established an Internal Audit Control Office (staffed by eight (8) personnel as
of April 30, 2008) under the direct control of the President and Representative Director, to
review and assess the Company’s system for the control and operation of overall management
activities, as well as the performance of business executions, in view of legitimacy and
rationality. Based on the results of this review and assessment, the Internal Audit Control Office
provides information related thereto and advice and recommendations for improvement and
realignment. It also endeavors to improve audit efficiency by closely communicating and
consulting with the Corporate Auditors and Accounting Auditor.
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(Accounting Auditor)

The Company employs Shin Nihon & Co. (English Name: Emnst & Young ShinNihon) as its
Accounting Auditor. Mr. Kazuhiro Fujita and Mr. Takahiro Takiguchi, two certified public
accountants belonging to the said audit corporation, conduct the accounting audits of the
Company. The durations of the engagements of Mr. Fujita and Mr, Takiguchi in the auditing of
the Company are both within seven (7) years, and thus the descriptions of their career histories,
positions concurrently held are oraitted. The said audit corporation has already introduced a
voluntary shift system for Designated and Engagement Partners in order to ensure that the
duration of the engagement does not exceed a certain fixed period. In addition, another eleven
(11) certified public accountants, five (5) assistant certified public accountants, and nine (%)
assistants heip Mr. Fujita and Mr. Takiguchi conduct the auditing work.
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- Measures for Shareholders and Other Stakeholders and their Implementation

1. Working to vitalize the General Shareholders’ Meeting and facilitate the
exercise of voting rights

Supplementary explanation

Earlier dispatch of the] In an effort to solicit the exercise of as many voting rights as
notice of the Meeting possible, the notice is dispatched at least three (3) weeks prior to
the date of the Meeting in principle.

Date of the Meeting to be| In an effort to increase the number of shareholders able to attend
fixed in principle on a day| the Meeting, the Company endeavors to select a day other than the
other than the day on| peak day, to the extent feasible.

which the largest number
of companies holds annual
shareholders meetings
(“the peak day™).

Exercise of voting rights)] The Company allows the electronic exercise of voting rights via
through  electromagnetic, the Internet and also will introduce the Tokyo Stock Exchange
means Platform to facilitate voting by institutional investors.

Others The Company sends an English version (summary) of the notice of
the Meeting separately to foreign shareholders, who have been
increasing in number in recent years. To deepen the understanding
of attending shareholders, the Company presents VTR
presentations on the business reports. Further, it holds events such
as mini-concerts and plant tours after the Meeting, while
introclucing its products.

2. IR Activities

Presentation by Supplementary explanation ]

Representative |
Periodic presentation Will not be made The Company proactively participates in
meeting for individual securities companies’ events for individual
investors investors.
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Periodic presentation
meeting for analysts and
institutional investors

Periodic presentation
meeting for foreign
investors

Posting of IR materials via
the website

Placing department (or

person) in charge of IR

The provision of internal
rules, etc. concerning
respect for stakeholders®
positions

Environmental protection
activities, CSR activities,
etc.

Will be made The Company holds an [R presentation
meeting  for  securities  analysts  and
institutional investors when releasing its
quarterly results. It also organizes facilities
tours and business presentations once a year.

Will be made The Company holds presentation meetings
with foreign institutional investors twice a
year.

Contained The Company enriches its IR materials and

provides information through its website.

It is also striving to expand its individual
investor base by developing and launching a
website for individual investors, etc.

- Public & Investors Relations Group, Public
Relations Division

3. Reinforcing respect for the stakeholders’ positions

Supplementary explanation

As stated in the section on the Fundamental Concept of Corporate
Governance, the Company declares, in its Corporate Philosophy,
that the Company has “commitments” to each of its
stakeholders—“shareholders,” “customers,” “employees.” and
“local society”™—and positions those commitments as its basic
management policy. Further, specific codes of conduct are
prescribed in the “Codes of Conduct for Compliance.”

-1

The Company has established a CSR Committee to engage
principally in social activities such as environmental protection
and energy saving. The CRS Committee is now performing its
activiries diligently. At the end of May 2005, the Company
achieved zero emission of wastes in all of its domestic
manufacturing plants. The Company also issues environmental
and social reports to introduce its works for environmental
protection and other social activities.
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Fundamental Concept of the Internal Controls System and the Status of Improvement
of the System

The Company has been improving its system to ensure the appropriate operation of its

businesses (hereinafter referred to as the “Internal Controls System™), in accordance with the

Company Law and the Enforcement Regulations of the Company Law, as stated hereunder. It

strives 1o qualitatively enhance the Internal Controls System in order to improve the efficiency

of its business operations and the reliability of its accounting and financial information, strictly
comply with the laws and regulations, strengthen its ability to secure the assets and control the

risks,

and pursue optimal corporate governance for the enhancement of the Company’s corporate

and brand value.

1. Systems to ensure that the Directors and employees comply with applicable laws, regulations,

and the Articles of Incorporation in the execution of their duties

*

The Board of Directors specifies in the Rules for the Board material matters to be resolved
by the Board and requires the reasonable decision-making process and content of
resolutions. The Representative Director(s) and Business Execution Director(s) report to
the Board of Directors on the status of the business execution, and the Board supervises
the execution of duties of each Director.

The Auditors audit the execution of the Board of Directors in accordance with the audit
standard and audit plan.

The Company is willing to increase the number of independent Outside Directors and
independent Qutside Auditors, and aims for more objective and transparent management.
The Compliance Committee established in the Company institutes the “Codes of Conduct
for Compliance,” upgrades the relevant regulations and manuals, and strives to improve
the penetration of compliance education throughout the group.

The Company establishes a framework to ensure compliance with laws, etc. and a system
for effective internal checks and balances. In order to develop those systems, the staff
division in charge offers guidance and advice to group companies.

The Internal Audit Control Office formed in the Company promotes further business
improvements through internal audits directly or indirectly extended to group companies.
The Company aims to raise the awareness and enhance the ethics of all employees of
group companies by implementing a fair and transparent personnel system.,

In order to realize effective compliance, an internal whistle-blowing system is adopted.
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2. Systems concerning storage, management, etc. of information on the execution of duties by

the Directors

*

The Directors store and manage documents and other information related to the execution
of their duties properly in compliance with the internal regulations.

The Internal Audit Control Office conducts periodic audits on the storage and management
of information.

The Company has established an administration system for material information and

implements accurate and prompt information disclosures.

3. Internal regulations and other systems concerning risks of loss

*

Qut of the various risks which may occur in connection with the execution of business, the
Company lays weight on violations of law, damages to brand, quality issues (including PL
problems and customer complaints), environmental issues, export control, the protection
of personal information, health and safety, etc., taking into account the probability and
importance of each type of risk. To address risk-related issues, the Company has
established a company-wide cross-sectional committee headed by a Director, which
formulates policies for the risk management of the whole group. Staff divisions entrusted
with the implementation of the individual risk management activities implement the
activities in accordance with the nature of the risk, upgrade the relevant regulations and
manuals, and offer guidance and advice to the whole group.

Internal audits are conducted by the Internal Audit Control Office to collect risk

information and recommend. appropriate responses.

4, Systems to ensure the efficient execution of duties by the Directors

* The Board of Directors enhances the speed of business execution and the efficiency of

management by defining the appropriate delegation of authority, the missions of each
division and group company, and the command and order system, in addition to the
measures to institute and maintain regulations concerning the execution of business,
including the Rules for the Board of Directors, the Regulations on authorization, etc., and
clarification of the authorities and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and
Representative Directors.

Concerning material matters which may influence the whole group, including matters to
be resolved by the Board of Directors, a complete discussion is carried out at the
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Management Meeting, etc. and, if necessary, opportunities to hear the opinions of outside
experts are arranged, in order to secure a reasonable and lawful process and reasonable
and lawful content of determinations.

For the purpose of group-wide goal setting and performance evaluation, the Company has
established a business management system which enables prompt business judgments and

risk controls.

5. Systems to ensure the propriety of business operations in the corporate group consisting of the

Company and its subsidiaries

*

The Company upgrades its information infrastructure to ensure better comprehension of
the status of operations of each group company and to enable the Company to promptly
prepare its consolidated financial statements,

The Company has a “Group Management Charter” which defines the group management
policies. In accordance with the Charter and the “Regulations for Controlling Group
Company,” the divisions in charge of controlling subsidiaries are responsible for providing
the subsidiaries under their contro} with appropriate managerial guidance and advice, and
the subsidiaries confer and consult with the relevant divisions concerning certain material
matters at an early stage, with assistance from the staff divisions.

The Company adopts a risk management system covering the whole group and extends
compliance education to its group companies.

In principle, each of the group companies has established a Board of Directors and
Corporate Auditors (or a Board of Auditors).

Internal audits and external audits are conducted whenever necessary, and the results are

fed back to improvements ir. business.

6. Matters concerning employees to be posted as assistants to the Auditor(s) for the execution of

auditor duties.

As a section dedicated to the assistance of the Corporate Auditors in performing the
auditor duties, the Corporate Auditors Office is formed and functions under the direct
control of the Board of Auditors. Further, upon request of the Corporate Auditors or the
Corporate Auditors Office, other staff divisions also assist the Corporate Auditors in audit

affairs.

7. Matters concerning independence from the Directors of employees engaged as assistants to
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the Corporate Auditors
The Board of Auditors receives a prior notice from the Director(s) concerning changes in
the organization and staff members of the Auditors Office and, if necessary, expresses its
opinions on those changes or requests modifications. Some staff employees who are not
subject to the commands or orders of the Directors are posted in the Corporate Auditors
Office. In addition, any personnel evaluation of those staff employees or any disciplinary
action against them requires the approval of the Board of Auditors.

8. Systems for the Directors or employees to report to the Board of Auditors and other systems

concerning reports to the Corporate Auditors

* The Corporate Auditors attend the Management Meeting, the Executive Officers’ Meeting,
and other important meetings, and express their opinions when necessary.

* The Corporate Auditors inspect material documents for final decisions and request
explanations or reports from the Directors or employees when necessary.

* In addition to the matters prescribed by law, the Board of Auditors receives periodic
reports on the following mattzrs as determined by the Board of Auditors;,
* Activity reports by the relevant staff division on internal control practices
* Reports by relevant staff divisions on compliance and the operations of the internal

whistle-blowing system and current conditions of whistle-blowing.

* Reports by the Internal Audit Control Office on the results of internal audits

9. Other systems to ensure the effectiveness of auditing by the Corporate Auditors
The President & Representative Director has periodic opportunities, either personally or
through the Internal Audit Control Office, to exchange views with the Corporate Auditors
on the upgrading and operating status of the Internal Controls System. Through such
exchanges, the President & Representative Director promotes the constant improvement of
the system. The Company endeavors to ensure that the Corporate Auditors receive the
assistance of ouiside experts, whenever the Corporate Auditors deem it necessary for their

auditing.

Basic concept and framework for excluding anti-social forces
We are commiitted, through our corporate philosophy, to “uphold high morality and comply
with laws to contribute to the development of the society, cultures, and economies of local

and global communities as a good corporate citizen.” In keeping with this commitment, we



have been striving to provide complete education programs on compliance. The “Codes of
Conduct for Compliance” prescribed by the Company declare that the exclusion of
anti-social forces is one of the key factors required for compliance management. In

accordance with the Codes, we stand firm in our refusal to comply with unjustifiable
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requests from anti-social forces and in our commitment to never cover up scandals or other

circumstances that may draw unjustifiable requests.

If we receive any unjustifiable requests from anti-social forces, we will endeavor to settle the

matter by treating it as an issue for the entire corporate organization rather than leaving it

solely to the discretion of the person or department in charge.

More specifically,

* The General Administration Division assists in the handling and settlement of any issue
involving an unjustifiable request, under the instructions of the Group Manager of the
Finance and Administration Group.

* We maintain close contact with the police and the liaison council of corporate defense, ete.
in each district, to collect and exchange information concerning anti-social forces. Further,
we ask for the opinions and assistance of lawyers, whenever necessary, in order to secure
reasonable negotiation proceedings, methods for settlement, etc.

* We take a tough stance against unjustifiable requests and never hesitate to resort to legal

procedure, either civil or criminal.

[“Pattern Diagram” for reference: See attached paper at the end.]
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- Other Matters

1. Matters concerning the anti-takeover measures

The Company introduced a set of “Measures for Large-Scale Purchases of Company Shares
(Anti-Takeover Measures)” (the “Flan™) with the approval of shareholders at the 183rd Ordinary
General Shareholders’ Meeting held on June 26, 2007, in order to secure and enhance corporate

value and the common interests of shareholders.

1 Basic Policy on the Composition of Persons to Control Decision-Making over the Financial
and Business Policies of the Company '

The Yamaha Group has developed core businesses anchored in music and sound under the
Yamaha brand. The inherent connections between our manufacturing operations, which are
focused on musical instruments and related hardware, and our service operations, which include
Yamaha music schools and music distribution services, are part of what makes our corporation
different from the rest. Our ongoing initiatives to meet the needs of professionals and to
popularize music through the operation of music schools and activities such as the hosting of
various musical events are key to our flagship musical instrument business. In light of this,
Yamaha has moved forward with these activities based on relationships with business partners
built on trust in the musical instrument and music business. The integration of these activities
and human resources is the very source of the corporate value of the Yamaha Group.

There is a growing tendency in Japan’s capital markets for purchasers to force through the
purchases of large numbers of shares without obtaining the approval of the managements of the
targeted companies. A review of the purposes, etc. of these large purchases reveals that many of
the purchases make no contribution to the corporate value of the companies targeted for
purchase or to the common interests of the shareholders of those companies. Some of large
purchases among them clearly impair the corporate value of the targeted company and common
interests of the company’s shareholders. The Company believes that persons who make
inappropriate large purchase offers or perform similar actions that might harm the corporate
value of the Company and oppose: the common interests of the Company’s shareholders do not
meet the standards of integrity required of those who are to be entrusted with control over
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decision-making on the financial and business policies of the Company.

I1 Qutline of the Anti-Takeover Measures

1. The Anti-Takeover Measures set forth a procedure to secure and enhance the corporate value
of the Company and common interests of the shareholders. In this procedure, the Purchaser or
the person offering to purchase the shares is required to provide information with respect to the
relevant purchase upon request by the Company, while the Company secures a period to gather
information and examine the proposed purchase. During the period, the management of the
Company presents a single or alternative plan to the shareholders or conducts negotiations, etc.

with the Purchaser or person offering to purchase the shares.

Purchases subject to the Anti-Takeover Measures are as follows.

(i) Concerning shares, etc. issued by the Company, any purchase that increases the holding
ratio of shares, etc. of the holder to 20% or greater,

(ii) Concerning shares, etc. issued by the Company, a tender offer that increases the total sum
of the ratio of ownership of shares, etc. relating to the tender offer and the ratio of
ownership of the shares, etc. of a Special Stakeholder to 20% or greater.

2. When the Company recognizes the risk of a purchase that may impair the corporate value and
the common interests of shareholders, such as a purchase not in accordance with the procedures
prescribed in the Plan, the Compary will grant ail of its shareholders Stock Acquisition Rights at
the relevant point of time in accordance with the method for the issuance of the Stock
Acquisition Rights without compensation, with the exercise condition that the relevant
Purchaser will not be allowed to exercise the Stock Acquisition Rights, and with the acquisition
provision that the Company will acquire the Stock Acquisition Rights in exchange for the
Company shares from persons other than the relevant Purchaser.

3. In order to rule out arbitrary judgments by the Board of Directors on the execution,
non-execution, acquisition, etc. of the Stock Acquisition Rights, the Company has resolved to
ensure transparency by entrusting the judgment solely to an “Independent Panel” made up of
members independent of the Company in accordance with the Independent Panel Rules, and in
the meantime by the timely disclosure of information to shareholders.

The Independent Panel makes the above judgment within the prescribed examination period (60
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days in principle) based on the Necessary Information submitted in advance by the relevant
Purchaser, information provided by the Board of Directors, and an opinion provided by the
Board of Directors, and recommends the judgment to the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors will honor the aforesaid recommendation from the Independent Panel to the fullest
degree and promptly adopt a resolution with respect to implementation or non-implementation

of the issuance of the Stock Acquisition Rights without compensation.

4. If the Stock Acquisition Rights are issued without compensation in accordance with the Plan
and the Company shares are granted to shareholders other than the relevant Purchaser through
the exercise of the Stock Acquisition Rights or in exchange for the acquisition of the Stock
Acquisition Rights by the Company, the relevant Purchaser’s share of voting rights of the
Company shares may be diluted by up to 50%.

5. The Anti-Takeover Measures approved at the 183rd Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting
held on June 26, 2007 shall remain in effect until the first meeting of the Board of Directors
subsequent to the Ordinary General Sharcholders’ Meeting to be held in 2010. Even before the
expiration of the effective period, if a resolution for the repeal of the Plan is adopted at the
General Shareholders’ Meeting or a resolution for the repeal of the Anti-Takeover Measures is
approved at a meeting of the Board of Directors consisting of Directors elected by the General
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Anti-Takeover Measures shall be repealed at the relevant point of

time.

2. Other matters concerning corporate governance system, etc.
Not applicable.
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[Reference Material: “Pattern Diagram”|
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Information Published, Filed or Distributed during April, 2008
1. Notice Regarding a Certain of Media Coverage of Yamaha (Repurchase of Own

Shares) (Exhibit 1)
2. Flash Report on consolidated asis (Results for the fiscal year ended March 31,

2008) (Exhibit 2)

3. FY2008.3 Performance Outline (Exhibit 3)
4. Qutline of Consolidated Performance for FY2008.3 and Outlook for FY2009.3

(Exhibit 4)
5. Notification of Changes in Management (Exhibit 5)

6. Announcement of Decision to Conduct an Acquisition of Own Shares (Exhibit 6)

7. Corporate Governance Report. revised on April 30, 2008 (Exhibit 7)
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Exhibit

April 14, 2008

For immediate release

Company Name: YAMAHA CORPORATION
President and Representative Director: Mitsuru Umemura
Code Number: 7951 (First Secticn of Tokyo Stock Exchange)

Notice Regarding a Certain of Media Coverage of Yamaha (Repurchase of Own
Shares)

Yesterday, April 13, 2008, some news media carried a report relating to Yamaha's
repurchase of its own shares. While a previous Yamaha news release (“Notice
Concerning the Planned Sale of & Portion of Yamaha's Shares Held in Yamaha Motor,”
May 21, 2007) mentioned "the repurchase of own shares" as an option under
consideration as one part of the Company’s strategies for increasing returns to
shareholders, there has not subsequently been any decision or announcement
regarding specific moves by Yamaha to repurchase its own shares.

if, going forward, a specific decision is made regarding Yamaha's repurchase of its own
shares, we will expeditiously announce that decision.

For Further Information, Please Contact:

Yamaha Corporation
Public Relations Division, Public Relations Group
{Telephone: +81-3-5488-6601)




FY2008.3 Performance Outline

Exhibit 3

YAMAHA CORPORATICN

(billions of yen)

Results Projections Resuits Projections Projections
{Previous Year) (Feb. 6, 2008) (Futl Year) (Interim Period)
FY2007.3 FY2008.3 FY2008.3 FY2008.3 FY2008.3
Net Sales 550.4 554.0 548.8 540.0 260.3
Japan Sales 291.3 {52.0%) 277.2 (50.0%) 276.7 (50.4%) 269.9 {50.0%) 132.3 (50.8%)
Overseas Sales 259.1 (47.1%) 276.8 (50.0%) 272.1 (46.6%) 270.1 (50.0%) 128.0 (40.2%)
Operating Income 27.7 (50%) 33.5 (B.0%) 32.8 (8.0%) 35.0 85%) 19.4 (75%)
Recurring Profit 426 (T.T%) 33.0 (B O%) 32.6 (5.9%) 32.0 (59%) 18.3 (7.0%)
Net Income 27.9 t5.1%) 39.0  (row 396 (7.2%} 20.5 (3.8%) 12.0 (4.8%)
Currency Exchange 17/USS 117/USS 116/USS 100/US% 100/USS
Rate (=yen) 144/EUR 158/EUR 159/EUR 155/EUR 155/EUR
ROE 8.4% 10.9% 11,5% 6.1% 7.2% 1)
ROA 5.2% 6.8% 7.2% 3.8% 4.5% {-2)
Eamings per Share 135.2yens 189.0yens 191.8yens 89.4yens 58.2yens
Capilal Expenditure 252 23.5 24.4 32.0 17.0
{Depreciation) (20.0) (20.2) (20.3) (21.0} (9.9)
R&D Expenditure 24.2 24.5 24.9 25.5 12.7
Free Cash Flow
Operating Activities 39.7 346 37.2 31.0 -6.2
Investing Activities -22.4 43.4 42.0 -25.4 -12.1
Total 17.3 78.0 79.2 56 -18.3
Inventories at End of Period §2.2 78.2 76.3 75,7 86.7
Number of Employees
Japan 11,644 10,834 10,699 10,949 11,105
QOverseas 14,348 15,777 15,843 16,542 17,539
Total {*3} 25,992 26,611 26,542 27,491 28,644
(Mewty Consolidated) {-1,082} {-1,082) l {33} {35}
Sales by Business Segmant
Musical Instruments 326.0 (50.2%) 343.0 B1.9%) 340.0 (82.0%) 342.5 (63.4%) 168.3 (84.7%)
AVIT ‘ 72.8 (13.2%) 720 (13.0%) 70.8 (12.9%) 70.0 (13.0%) 31.1 (12.0%)
ﬁ:ﬂ%ﬁ:«iﬁgmm o 54.8 (10.0%) 45.5 (©2%) 45.0 (82%) .
Electronic Dovices [*4) - - - 37.0 (8.8%) 167 (5.4%)
Lifestyle-Related Products 46.6 (B.5%) 46.0 (B.3%) 45.5 (8.3%) 48.0 (8.9%) 238 @1%)
Recreation 17.8 (32%) 1.5 @21%) 11.4 (21%) -
Others (*6) 324 (59%) 36,0 (B.5%) 36.1 (6.5%) 42.5 (7.9%) 20.4 (7.8%)
Cperaling Income by Busines]
Segment
Musical [nstruments 22.0 29.5 27.9 285 17.0
AVAT ) 2.1 1.0 1.8 1.5 0.2
Electronic Devices (*4) - - - 15 0.5
Lifestyle-Related Products 1.2 0.5 0.6 1.5 05
Recreation -1.5 -1.0 -1.1 -
Others (*6) 0.8 2.0 1.7 2.0 1.2
Non-Consolidated Basis p; =2
Net Sales 323.0 3156 oo 33 T4
Operating Income 12.6 (3.9%) 12.3 (3.9%) i_’_,r; =
Recurring Profit 19.9 (82%) 17.8 (5.7%) C:g = oY
Net Income 11.3 (35%) 62.0 (16.6%) g — az!
-t 0 —
*1, 2 The ROE and ROA projections of the interim period for FY2009,3 are calculated on an annually adjusted basis. [ -';_: el
*3 Number of Employees = Number of full-time staff a1 end of period + Number of temporary staff at end of period - - ™
*4 As aresult of the sale of Electronic Metal Products business, Electronic Equipment and Metal Products segment will be c!assfﬁed as U

Electronic Davices segmen! starting from FY2009.3.
* 5 Following the sale of the pertion of the resort facilitias, figures of Others segment from FY2009.3 include that of Recreahon segmenN

-v...-

—‘1 .
I

~2

The forward-looking statements in this document contain inherent risks and uncertainties insofar as they are based on future
projections and plans that may differ matenialty from the actual results achieved.
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For Immediate Release
Yamaha Corporation

Outline of Consolidated Performance for FY2008.3
and Outlook for FY2009.3
(Supplementary Information)

Summary of Performance in ¥Y2008.3: Year-on-Year, Slight Decline in
Net Sales, Increases in Operating and Net Income, Decline in
Recurring Profit

Consolidated net sales of Yamaha Corporation (Yamaha) in FY2008.3
(April 1, 2007, to March 31, 2008) decreased 0.3%, to ¥548.8 billion. The
principal causes of the decrzase included the reduction in the number of
companies within the scope of consolidation as a result of the sale of
certain subsidiaries, which led to substantially lower sales in the electronic
equipment and metal products segment and the recreation segment. In
addition, lower sales were reported in the AV/IT products segment and the
lifestyle-related products szgment. However, sales in Yamaha’s core
musical instruments segment and others segment including golf products,
automobile components, and other areas were robust.

Consolidated operating income expanded 18.6%, to ¥32.8 billion. Despite
declines in operating income in the AV/IT products, electronic equipment
and metal products, and lifestyle-related products segments, increases were
posted in operating income in the musical instruments and others segments,
and the recreation businzss reported relative improvement in its
performance with a smaller operating loss. Recurring profit declined 23.6%,
to ¥32.6 billion. This was a result of the exclusion of affiliate Yamaha
Motor Co., Ltd., from the scope of consolidation under the equity method
and a resulting decline in equity in earnings, following the sale of a portion




of Yamaha’s shares in that company, and a resulting decline in equity in
earnings.

Consolidated net income increased 42.0%, to ¥39.6 billion. This was due to
the reporting of extraordinary gains from the sale of stock of the previously
mentioned affiliated company.

Please note that, compared with the outlook for FY2008.3, announced on
February 6 at the time of the release of results for the third quarter, net sales
were ¥5.2 billion below target, in part because of movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. Profitwise, operating income was ¥0.7 billion
lower than the forecast level, and recurring profit was ¥0.4 billion short of
the target. However, net income exceeded the forecast level by ¥0.6 billion.

Sales and Operating Income by Product Segment
(Figures in parentheses are changes year on year.)

Musical Instruments
Sales of ¥340.0_billion (+4.3%) and Operating Income of ¥27.9 billion

(+26.7%)

Although sales in Japan and North America declined, major increases were
recorded in European markets and emerging economies, including China.
By product, sales of pianos were firm in Europe, China, and other Asian
markets. Among electronic musical instruments, sales of digital pianos and
other products expanded in overseas markets, while sales of professional
audio equipment also increased, principally in overseas markets. In
addition, the performance of wind instruments as well as string and
percussion instruments was generally smooth, and revenues from music
schools and English-language schools held strong. Sales of the content
distribution business declined because of the shrinkage of the polyphonic
ringtone melody distribution market. Profitwise, operating income rose
because of an improvement in margins on sales, including the positive
impact of trends in foreign currency exchange rates.




AV/IT Products
Sales of ¥70.8 billion (-2.8%) and Operating Income of ¥1.8 billion

(=14.0%)

In the audio business, sales of front surround speaker products, including
digital sound projectors, expanded, but sales of AV receivers remained level
with the previous fiscal year because of more-intense competition. In
addition, sales of commercial online karaoke equipment declined. Sales of
the segment as a whole showed a slight decline, and operating income
declined, despite the favorable effect of trends in foreign currency
exchange rates.

Electronic Equipment and Metal Products
Sales of ¥45.0 billion (~17.9%) and Operating Income of ¥1.9 billion

{-=39.9%)

In the semiconductor business, sales of digital amplifier LSIs expanded, but
overall sales declined because of lower demand for LSI sound chips for
mobile phones. Accompanying the sale of 90% of the shares Yamaha held
in Yamaha Metanix Corporation, which was a consolidated subsidiary
engaged in the electronics metals business, to Dowa Metaltech Co., Ltd.,
effective November 30, 2007, Yamaha Metanix was excluded from the
scope of consolidation beginning with the second half of the fiscal year
under review. This resulted in a substantial decline in sales of the metal
products business and a decline in sales of this segment as a whole.
Operating income decreased because of deterioration in profit margins in
the semiconductor business.

Lifestyle-Related Products
Sales of ¥45.5 billion (=2.3%) and Operating Income of ¥0.6 billion

(—48.8%)

Sales of system kitchens held strong, but unit prices of system baths
declined because of more-intense competition, thus leading to a slight




overall decrease in sales of this segment. Operating income dropped
because of the decline in margins accompanying the rise in prices of raw
materials and the trend toward lower-priced units.

Recreation

Sales of ¥11.4 billion_(-36.2%) and an Operating Loss of ¥1.1 billion
(Compared with an_Operating_Loss of ¥1.5 billion for the Same Period of
the Previous Fiscal Year)

Effective October 1, 2007, Yamaha sold the operating assets of four of its
recreation facilities (Kiroro, Toba Hotel International, Nemunosato, and
Haimurubushi) and all the shares of the companies managing these
facilities to Mitsui Fudosan Resort Co., Ltd., and, beginning with the
second half of the fiscal year under review, these companies were excluded
from the scope of consolidation. As a result, segment sales declined, but,
due to the decrease in unprofitable facilities, the operating loss has
diminished.

Others
Sales of ¥36.0 billion (+11.4%) and Operating Income _of ¥1.7 billion

(+118.0%)

In the golf products business, strong increases were reported in both
domestic sales and exports, leading to an overall increase in sales. In the
metallic mold and components business, sales of magnesium parts and
plastic parts as well as automobile interior wood components increased,
contributing to an overall rise in segment sales for the fiscal year. Along
with the increase in sales, operating income rose sharply.

Results of Yamaha Corporation on a Non-Consolidated Basis
Declines in Sales and Operating Income, but an Increase in Net Income

Sales of Yamaha on a non-consolidated basis declined 2.3%, to ¥315.6
billion, in part because of the shifting of certain businesses to subsidiaries.
Profitwise, operating income slipped 1.7%, to ¥12.3 billion, recurring profit
was down 9.7%, to ¥17.9 billion, but net income expanded 448.4%, to




¥62.0 billion, as a result of extraordinary income from the sale of a portion
of the shares held in Yamaha Motor.

Consolidated Forecast for FY2009.3
Sales are Forecast to Decline, but Operating Income Will Rise

FY2009.3 will be the second year under Yamaha’s medium-term business
plan “YGP2010 (Yamaha Growth Plan 2010),” and initiatives are under
way to show improvement in results and to strengthen Yamaha’s business
base.

By business segment, in the musical instruments segment, sales and income
are expected to rise, despite the impact of the sharp decline in the value of
the U.S. dollar, as a result of a number of positive factors. These include
the realignment of manufacturing bases, and implementation of measures
to lower manufacturing costs, the strengthening of sales capabilities in
China, Russia, and other growth markets, and the expansion of sales of
high-value-added products in Japan and overseas.

In the AV/IT products business, declines are forecast in sales and income,
despite the upgrading of the AV receiver product lineup and expansion in
sales of front surround speekers, as a result of the weakening of the U.S.
dollar and more intense competition. In the electronics devices segment (As
a result of the sale of Yamaha’s electronics metal products business, the
name of the former electronic equipment and metal products segment has
been changed to the electronic devices segment), declines are forecast in
sales and income as a result of the effects of the sale of the electronic metal
products business, despitz the rise of sales and income in the
semiconductor business.

In the lifestyle-related products business, Yamaha is forecasting increases
in sales and income as a result of the upgrading of its product lineup in this
area and the development of additional business through new sales
channels, principally in the field of home remodeling. In the others segment,
Yamaha is forecasting increases in income from metallic molds and
components as a result of reductions in manufacturing costs and other




factors. Please note that following the sale of four of Yamaha’s recreation
facilities, the remainder of the recreation business has been included in the
others segment.

As a consequence of the factors mentioned, Yamaha is forecasting
consolidated net sales of ¥540.0 billion, operating income of ¥35.0 billion,
recurring profit of ¥32.0 billion, and net income of ¥20.5 billion.

Dividends for FY2008.3 and FY2009.3

Regarding dividends for FY2008.3, as part of Yamaha’s decision to
enhance the return to shareholders accompanying the sale of a portion of its
holdings of Yamaha Motor shares, Yamaha is scheduled to pay a special
dividend of ¥20 per share for the full fiscal year in addition to the regular
dividend of ¥30 per share, thus bringing the total dividend applicable to
FY2008.3 to ¥50 per share (comprising an interim dividend of ¥25 per
share and a dividend of ¥25 per share for the second half, with both figures
including the special dividend of ¥10 per share).

For FY2009.3, Yamaha plans to pay a special dividend of ¥20 per share for
the full fiscal year in addition to a regular dividend that will be ¥5 higher
than in FY2008.3, thus bringing the total dividend applicable to FY2009.3
to ¥55 per share (comprising an interim dividend of ¥27.5 and a dividend
of ¥27.5 per share for the second half, with both figures including the
special dividend of ¥10 per share).

Acquisition of Own Shares

At the meeting today of the Board of Directors of Yamaha Corporation, it
was decided that, as part of the policy to enhance the return to shareholders
accompanying the sale of a portion of its holdings of Yamaha Motor shares,
Yamaha will conduct an acquisition of its own shares. All of the shares
acquired will be cancelled. The details of the share acquisition are as




follows.

» Class of shares to be purchased: Yamaha’s common shares

» Total number of shares to be acquired: 10 million (upper limit)

» Total amount of shares to be acquired: ¥18.0 billion (upper
limit)

» Period for the share acquisition: May 1, 2008, to September 30,
2008

Note: Sales and profit figures in the text have, in principle, been rounded
up to the nearest 0.1 billion yen. Figures in parentheses are, in principle,
percentage changes from the same period of the previous year.

For further information, please contact:
Yamaha Corporation

Public Relations Division, Public Relations Group
Telephone: 81-3-5488-6601
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Appendix to Flash Report for Fisgal Year Ended March 31, 2008

Company Name: YAMAHA CORPCORATION
Representative
Director: Mitsuru Um:amura, President
Address: 10-1, Nakazawa-cho, Naka-ku, Hamamatsu, Shizuoka
Code Number: 7951
Contact: Public Relations Group, Public Relations Division

Tel: +81-3-5488-6601
Fax: +81-3-5488-5060

Notification of Changes in Management

The Board of Directors of Yamaha Corporation, at its meeting held on April 30, 2008, decided
on the following changes in management. These changes will be finalized at the Directors’
meeting to be held after the 184™ orclinary shareholders’ meeting on June 25, 2008:

1. Change of Directors

{1) Candidates for Appointment as Director
Director Takashi Kajikawa
(Currently President & Representative Director of Yamaha
Motor Co., Ltd.)
Tsutomu Sasaki
{Currently Execulive officer, General Manger of General
Administration Division)
(2} Outgoing Director
Director Toru Hasegawa

*These changes will go into effect on June 25, 2008
2. Change of Auditors
(1) Candidate for Appointment as Auditor
Auditor (Full-Time) Hisashi Yabe (Currently General Manager of Resort
Management Division. )
{2) Outgoing Auditor
Auditor (Full-Time}) Michio Horikeshi {Scheduled to become Corporate Advisor)
*These changes will go into effect on June 25, 2008

3. Change of Executive Officers

(1) Candidates for Appointment as Executive Officer
Executive Officer Keiji Taniguchi (Currently President & Representative Director of

1
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Yamaha Music Entertainment Holdings, Inc.)

Executive Officer Masao Kendo (Currently General Manager of AV Products
Division)

(2) Outgoing Executive Officers

Executive Officer Yasuhiro Kira

Executive Officer Tsutomu Sasaki

*These changes will go into effect on June 25, 2008

4. Director Who Will also Hold the Position of Executive Officer
Executive Officer Tsutomu Sasaki (Scheduled to become Director and concurrently

Executive Officer)

*These changes will go into effect on June 25, 2008.
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April 30, 2008
Company Name: YAMAHA CORPORATION
President and
Representative Director: Mitsuru Umemura
Code Number: 7951 (First Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange)

For Inquiries: Wataru Miki, Executive Officer and General Manager,
) Public Relations Division
(Telephone: +81-3-5488-6601)

Announcement of Decision to Conduct an Acquisition of Own Shares
{Under the provisions of Yamaha’s Articles of Incorporation
pursuant to Article 165-2 of the Corporation Law of Japan)

Yamaha Corporation (Yamaha, the Company) announces that its Board of Directors, at
its meeting held on April 30, 2308, decided the necessary matters to conduct an
acquisition of its own shares under Articte 156 of the Corporation Law of Japan, as
applied pursuant to Article 165-3 of the said Corporation Law. The details of the share
acquisition are as follows.

1. Reason for the share acquisition

The acquisition of the shares will be conducted as part of measures to enhance the
return to shareholders of Yamaha shares accompanying the sale of a portion of
Yamaha's holdings in Yamaha Motor Co., Ltd., which was conducted in May 2007.

2. Details of the acquisition
(1) Class of shares to be purchased: Yamaha's common shares
(2) Total number of shares to be acquired: 10 million (upper limit)
This represents 4.8% of total shares issued and outstanding (excluding
treasury stock).
(3) Total amount of shares to be acquired: ¥18.0 billion (upper timit)




!

(4) Period for the share acquisition: May 1, 2008, to September 30, 2008

3. Other matters
All of the shares acquired will be cancelled.

For Reference: Company holdings of own shares issued and outstanding as of March
31, 2008:
Total shares issued and outstanding (excluding treasury stock): 206,290,045
shares
Treasury stock held: 234,581 shares




